# Wayne State University DigitalCommons@WayneState

Wayne State University Dissertations

1-1-2013

# The Mediating Influence Of School Engagement Between An Adolescent's Contextual Environment And Academic Accomplishment

Najim Uddin Ahmed *Wayne State University*,

Follow this and additional works at: http://digitalcommons.wayne.edu/oa\_dissertations

#### **Recommended** Citation

Ahmed, Najim Uddin, "The Mediating Influence Of School Engagement Between An Adolescent's Contextual Environment And Academic Accomplishment" (2013). *Wayne State University Dissertations*. Paper 825.

This Open Access Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by DigitalCommons@WayneState. It has been accepted for inclusion in Wayne State University Dissertations by an authorized administrator of DigitalCommons@WayneState.



## THE MEDIATING INFLUENCE OF SCHOOL ENGAGEMENT BETWEEN AN ADOLESCENT'S CONTEXTUAL ENVIRONMENT AND ACADEMIC ACCOMPLISHMENT

by

## NAJIM UDDIN AHMED

## DISSERTATION

Submitted to the Graduate School

of Wayne State University,

Detroit, Michigan

in partial fulfillment of the requirements

for the degree of

# **DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY**

2013

MAJOR: EDUCATIONAL PSYCHOLOGY

Approved by:

Advisor

Date



# ©COPYRIGHT BY

## NAJIM UDDIN AHMED

All Rights Reserved

2013



#### DEDICATION

Every endeavor has moments of success and failure that are only tolerable because of the people

who sacrifice their own dreams and comfort for another person's dreams and comfort. For their

dedication to my dream I humbly dedicate this dissertation to my wife

Lili Ahmed

for generously allowing me to complete this important project,

and

to my daughters Maryam, Sarah, and Fatima

who continuously inspire me when I feel like giving up.

And, most importantly, this token of accomplishment is dedicated to my mother

Mary Teresa Moskello,

and father,

Giash Uddin Ahmed.

I realize that I will never be able to come close to repaying them for what they gave me.



#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The completion of this dissertation has been the most challenging academic endeavor I have ever encountered. Without the support, patience, encouragement, and guidance of the following people, there was no way I could have finished this project. I thank them sincerely.

I would like to begin with expressing my deepest gratitude to my advisor, Dr. Stephen Hillman. Without his guidance, encouragement and patience, it would not have been possible for me to make it to this point. Dr. Hillman's expertise of the subject area was invaluable as was his willingness to provide timely editing.

I would like to thank my committee members, Dr. Barry Markman, Dr. Cheryl Somers, and Dr. Glenn Weisfeld, for being willing to be a part of my dissertation committee. Throughout my graduate career, each member has provided me with knowledge that has enhanced me as an individual and that will guide me for the rest of my life. Without them, I would not have been able to complete this project.

I would like to thank the students at the high school where I conducted the study. I would also like to acknowledge the assistance of the administration and staff in facilitating the data collection.

I would like to thank my parents for taking care of me as a child.

I would especially like to thank my wife for putting up with me in life in general. My overall advancement and success would not have been possible without her.

This acknowledgement section would not be complete without my expressing a heartfelt thanks to the late Kamrul Islam (died on August 29, 2010). He was my helper and guide when I had no one. I miss him dearly.



iii

And finally, I would like to thank anyone and everyone that has helped me in some way or another. Thank you.



Dedicationii
Acknowledgmentsiii
List of Tables
List of Figuresx
CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION
Problem Statement1
Influences on Student Performance in School2
Theoretical Model
Research Questions4
Definition of Terms5
Significance of Study7
CHAPTER 2 LITERATURE REVIEW
Overview of Social Cognitive Theory9
Self-Efficacy9
Triadic Reciprocal Determinism11
The Influence of Socioeconomic Status in Adaptive Academic Outcomes12
The Role of Parents in Adaptive Academic Outcomes15
The Role of Teachers in Adaptive Academic Outcomes
The Role of Peers in Adaptive Academic Outcomes21
CHAPTER 3 METHODOLOGY25
Research Design25
Participants

# TABLE OF CONTENTS



Procedure
Instruments
School Engagement27
Academic Self-efficacy
Parental Behaviors
Teacher Caring
Teacher Academic Expectations
Peer Influence
Demographic Survey35
Statistical Analysis
CHAPTER 4 RESULTS OF DATA ANALYSIS
Missing Data
Description of the Sample
Description of the Scaled Variables44
Research Questions and Hypotheses
Research question 149
Research question 257
Research question 359
Research question 461
Ancillary Findings63
Summary68
CHAPTER 5 DISCUSSION
Description of the Participants



Research Questions and Hypotheses70
Ancillary Findings75
Conclusion76
Implications and Recommendations77
Limitations and Recommendations for Further Research78
Appendix A – Surveys
Appendix B – Parent Information Sheet94
Appendix C – Adolescent Assent Form97
Appendix D – Wayne State University Institutional Review Board Approval
References100
Abstract
Autobiographical Statement



# LIST OF TABLES

Table 1	Cronbach Alpha Coefficients for Adolescent Self-reports
Table 2	Correlations between Adolescent and Parent Reports
Table 3	Research Questions and Statistical Analysis
Table 4	Frequency Distributions – Grade Level of the Students
Table 5	Frequency Distributions – Gender of the Students40
Table 6	Descriptive Statistics – Age of the Students
Table 7	Frequency Distributions – Home Life42
Table 8	Frequency Distributions – Self-Reported Academic Grades
Table 9	Description of the Scaled Variables45
Table 10	Intercorrelation Matrix of Study Variables46
Table 11	Mediation Analysis – Mediating Role of School Engagement on the Relation Between Mother Demandingness and Academic Grades
Table 12	Mediation Analysis – Mediating Role of School Engagement on the Relation Between Father Demandingness and Academic Grades
Table 13	Mediation Analysis – Mediating Role of School Engagement on the Relation Between Mother Responsiveness and Academic Grades
Table 14	Mediation Analysis – Mediating Role of School Engagement on the Relation Between Father Responsiveness and Academic Grades
Table 15	Mediation Analysis – Mediating Role of School Engagement on the Relation Between Mother Values and Academic Grades
Table 16	Mediation Analysis – Mediating Role of School Engagement on the Relation Between Father Values and Academic Grades
Table 17	Mediation Analysis – Mediating Role of School Engagement on the Relation Between Mother Interest in Schoolwork and Academic Grades
Table 18	Mediation Analysis – Mediating Role of School Engagement on the Relation Between Father Interest in Schoolwork and Academic Grades



Table 19	Mediation Analysis – Mediating Role of School Engagement on the Relation Between Mother Involvement in School and Academic Grades
Table 20	Mediation Analysis – Mediating Role of School Engagement on the Relation Between Father Involvement in School and Academic Grades
Table 21	Mediation Analysis – Mediating Role of School Engagement on the Relation Between Perceived Teacher Caring and Academic Grades
Table 22	Mediation Analysis – Mediating Role of School Engagement on the Relation Between Academic Press and Academic Grades
Table 23	Mediation Analysis – Mediating Role of School Engagement on the Relation Between Conventional Involvement and Academic Grades60
Table 24	Mediation Analysis – Mediating Role of School Engagement on the Relation Between Peer Trouble and Academic Grades61
Table 25	Mediation Analysis – Mediating Role of School Engagement on the Relation Between Academic Self-efficacy and Academic Grades
Table 26	Stepwise Multiple Linear Regression Analysis – Self-Reported Academic Grades63
Table 27	Stepwise Multiple Linear Regression Analysis – School Engagement65
Table 28	Stepwise Multiple Linear Regression Analysis – Academic Self-Efficacy67



# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1 Mediation model in the context of present study	Figure 1	Mediation model in the context of present study4
--	----------	--



#### **CHAPTER** 1

#### **INTRODUCTION**

#### **Problem Statement**

With increasing focus on student performance in school, research has found that the engagement American youth exhibit in high school is not high (Steinberg, 2014). In contrast, it is very low. Many students have been found to be simply going through the motions when they are in school, doing what is necessary to get by. This leaves high school teachers with students who are physically present in the room, but psychologically absent (Steinberg, 1996, 2014).

Studies have shown that disengaged students find school unchallenging and boring. These students admit that they calibrate their efforts to earn a particular grade and could do better if they tried harder (Public Agenda, 1997). Furthermore, students who are not engaged in school are more likely to engage in various types of delinquent behavior, including substance use (Patton et al., 2006; Schmidt, 2003). Therefore, identifying factors that are related to promoting school engagement is important.

Research has consistently shown that parents, teachers, peers, and socioeconomic status are significantly related to an adolescent's academic performance in school (Steinberg, 2014). Interestingly, scarce literature is available that identifies which of the mentioned variables are most important in predicting student academic performance within a multiculturally diverse sample. Furthermore, the same applies to studies investigating causal pathways in relation to the above variables. The following gives an overview of what we do know in relation to influences on student performance in school.



#### **Influences on Student Performance in School**

**Socioeconomic status.** A powerful influence on school performance is the socioeconomic background of the adolescent. Research has indicated that adolescents from middle-class socioeconomic backgrounds outperform, and complete more years of schooling than their working-class and lower-socioeconomic status counterparts (Muller, Stage, & Kinzie, 2001; Schoon, Parsons, & Sacker, 2004). This status encompasses the broader environment of an adolescent. Individuals of low socioeconomic status have been found to have environments that interfere – in various ways – with the ability to focus on performing well in school. In general, higher socioeconomic levels are associated with a better, more adaptive environment to live and learn in. It was reported that 69.2% of the total student population at the high school this study was conducted at participated in the free/reduced price lunch program during the 2012-2013 school year (State of Michigan, 2013). This suggests that a high number of the student population at this school come from low-income families.

**Parents**. Interactions with teachers, parents, and peers are several of the factors that have been found to influence how well a student does academically. For example, research has suggested that parental behaviors are directly related to an adolescent's academic performance (Steinberg, 1996, 2014). These behaviors manifest in the form of encouraging higher standards and aspirations, reinforcing positive school experiences through structured support at home, and demonstrated personal interest and involvement in an adolescent's academic life (Ibanez, Kuperminc, Jurkovic, & Perilla, 2004; Xu, 2004; Luthar, Shoum, & Brown, 2006; Benner, Graham, & Mistry, 2008; Hill & Tyson, 2009).

**Teachers**. While parents play a role, studies have found that teachers significantly contribute towards a student's academic performance as well. The attitudes and expectations that



they communicate in class influence their students' perceptions of success. Students who believe that their teacher holds negative opinions of them are more susceptible to learned helplessness (Jussim, Eccles, & Madon, 1996; Durik, Vida, & Eccles, 2006; Blackwell, Trzesniewski, & Dweck, 2007; Maatt, Nurmi, & Stattin, 2007). In contrast, research has found those students who perceive their teacher as caring report learning more and holding interest in what was being taught (Teven & McCroskey, 1997). Furthermore, a recent study has indicated that the messages received from teachers and parents have influence on a student's academic self-efficacy (Usher, 2009).

**Peers**. Peers are another factor related to academic success. Studies have suggested that they influence an adolescent's day-to-day behaviors such as doing homework and exerting effort in class (Steinberg, 1996, 2014). As a result, students whose peers are more engaged in school are themselves more engaged (Ream & Rumberger, 2008). This shows that interactions – with peers, teachers, and parents – matter to an adolescent and contribute toward his or her doing well in school.

#### **Theoretical Model**

**Mediation**. Baron and Kenny (1986) proposed a model to explain human cognition, affect, and behavior. This model includes initial and outcome variables. An initial variable is analogous to the independent/predictor variable. Outcome variables are similar to the dependent/criterion variable.

The unique aspect of this model is the inclusion of a mediator variable. A mediator variable is stated to be in a causal sequence between the initial and outcome variables (MacKinnon, Fairchild, & Fritz, 2007). Four conditions must be met for a variable to function as a mediator. First, there must be a statistically significant correlation between the predictor and



criterion variables. This condition indicates that a relationship may be mediated. Second, the predictor variable must significantly account for variations in the mediator variable. Third, the mediator variable must significantly account for variations in the criterion variable. Fourth, the relationship between the predictor and criterion variable is substantially reduced when the potential mediator is held constant on the fourth step of the mediation analysis. Therefore, causal inferences may be made from this model with the mediator being the cause of the outcome (Baron & Kenny, 1986). The following diagram illustrates this process in the context of this study.



Figure 1. Mediation model in the context of present study.

## **Research Questions**

The following research questions were addressed in this study:

- 1. Does an adolescent's academic engagement in school mediate the relationship between parental behaviors and grades?
- 2. Does an adolescent's academic engagement in school mediate the relationship between teacher behaviors and grades?



- 3. Does an adolescent's academic engagement in school mediate the relationship between peer influence and grades?
- 4. Does an adolescent's academic engagement in school mediate the relationship between academic self-efficacy and grades?

## **Definition of Terms**

Operational definitions allow for the unambiguous understanding of research concepts. They define exactly what the researcher is measuring. The following terms are defined for this study.

**Parenting style.** Research has identified several types of parenting styles. These styles have been found to have two dimensions – demandingness and responsiveness. This study will measure the two dimensions. Demandingness is the amount of control a parent exerts on his or her child. An example of this can be the leniency a parent has towards his or her adolescent following house rules. One the other hand, responsiveness is the amount of warmth a parent exhibits toward his or her child. Measurement of this is based on the parent meeting the physical and psychological needs of his or her adolescent. These two dimensions work in concert to produce various and fluctuating parenting styles (Paulson, 1994).

**Parental involvement.** Paulson (1994) defined parental involvement as the attitudes and behaviors that parents exhibit towards the success of their children. This has three dimensions. The values a parent communicates regarding his or her adolescent's achievement is one of them. Another is the interest that parents demonstrate in their child's schoolwork. The extent of involvement that a parent partakes in school functions is the third.

**Teacher caring.** This concept has been delineated as a student's perception of his or her teacher's goodwill towards him or her. The construct is thus labeled perceived caring. Three factors are associated with teacher caring, including: a teacher's ability to be empathetic with the



student, understand the student's perspectives and needs, and adaptively reacting to a student's problems and needs (Teven & McCroskey, 1997).

**Teacher academic expectations.** Middleton and Midgley (2002) defined this as the amount of press a teacher demonstrates to ensure a student understands what is being taught. It is similar in nature to demandingness – or expectations of adherence – relative to parenting styles. In this case, it is expectations – or press – to understand. This encompasses the extent a teacher presses a student for more thoughtful inquiry and explanations, completion of more challenging work, and exertion of full effort in school.

**Peer influence.** In this investigation, peer influence will be measured using two dimensions. The first is through conventional involvement. This is illustrated by the extent peers are involved in behaviors that foster adaptive academic outcomes such as doing homework and reading books. In contrast, peer trouble is the second dimension. It is illustrative of behaviors that will impede academic and life success such as getting in trouble at school and with the law (Simpson & McBride, 1992).

**School Engagement.** This construct is defined as the amount of psychological interest and effort a student demonstrates in schoolwork (Steinberg, 1996, 2014). An engaged student spends a lot of time doing homework. He or she also does not have many – if any – unexcused absences. It is also true that the engaged student actively pays attention in class. Daydreaming during inappropriate times for them is a rarity. It is vice-versa for all of the above when describing the unengaged student.

**Grades.** Common indicators of academic achievement in school are grades. They often appear as letters of the alphabet. For example, A – is associated with excellent performance, B – with good performance, C – with average performance, D – with poor performance, and E or F –



with failure. Each respective grade reflects a student's mastery of what was taught to him or her (Ormrod, 2009).

Academic Self-Efficacy. Self-Efficacy – a key construct in Social Cognitive Theory – is the perception of how successful one would be when executing a course of action (Bandura, 1997). These beliefs can be global or domain specific. For this study, academic self-efficacy refers to the perceptions adolescents have about their ability to learn in school. These abilities are related to reading, note taking, test taking, and studying (Zimmerman & Kitsantas, 2005).

#### **Significance of Study**

In January 2002, a comprehensive piece of federal legislation was signed into law. It is known as the No Child Left Behind (NCLB) Act. The NCLB was designed to ensure that all students, regardless of their socioeconomic status, would achieve academic proficiency (U.S. Department of Education, 2011). To realize this, states were given a mandate to create and enforce certain academic standards. These standards were left at the discretion of the respective states. With annual standardized testing and public reporting of the results, schools were to be held accountable for the quality of education they provided.

Underperforming schools – where student's test scores show no improvement – faced different types of sanctions. A reduction in funding, state takeover, and possible closure are among the remedies for poor student performance. Therefore, focusing on meeting and exceeding these standards have become a primary concern for schools, school districts, and states.

According to recent data, achieving these standards has been difficult. In the State of Michigan, student performance is assessed using scores from the Michigan Educational Assessment Program (MEAP) in grades 3 through 9. The Michigan Merit Examination is used



for students in the 11<sup>th</sup> grade (State of Michigan, 2012a). The scores students achieve in English and Mathematics on these examinations are used to determine if standards are met (State of Michigan, 2012b).

Some states have reported that as many as 50% or more of their schools are unable to meet NCLB standards (McNeil, 2011a). In Michigan, where this study was conducted, 37 school districts did not make adequate yearly progress (AYP) for the 2010-2011 school year (State of Michigan, 2011). Due to the repercussions associated with this, several states, including Michigan, have asked for waivers from the federal government. Although these are likely to be granted, schools still will be expected to adhere to a set of federally mandated standards (McNeil, 2011b).

Understanding what contributes to successful schools is paramount to meeting these standards. The current study intends to examine several variables that research has found to be associated with school success. A particularly unique aspect of this study is its use of a mediation model. This model facilitates the possibility of making causal inferences using multiple linear regression analyses. An additional unique aspect of this study is its attempt to identify the most important variable that contributes towards self-reported academic grades, school engagement, and academic self-efficacy, respectively. Data resulting from this study highlight some developmental needs of all stakeholders. School administrators, teachers, parents, and students could use these results as a guide to developing programs and interventions that foster adaptive academic outcomes.



8

#### **CHAPTER 2**

#### LITERATURE REVIEW

#### **Overview of Social Cognitive Theory**

Social cognitive theory (Bandura, 1986) posited that learning is an interaction between individual cognitions, behaviors, and environmental contexts. This theory postulated that acquiring knowledge depends on experiences of interacting with and observing others. Specifically, the theory was concerned with how personal and environmental factors are related to beliefs about, and approaches to, learning. According to Bandura (1986) choices result from a reciprocal interaction between behaviors, the environment, and other personal variables including personal beliefs. So student academic behavior during high school is explained as a function of reciprocal interactions among individual beliefs, such as self-efficacy for learning, and environmental factors, such as interactions with parents, teachers, and peers who serve as role models. The observation of desired behavior from role models is a major factor in learning (Bandura, 1986, 1997). Role models in social cognitive theory can be individuals who provide concrete explanations/demonstrations of how to behave in particular situations and are perceived to be credible.

#### **Self-Efficacy**

Self-efficacy represents a person's belief about his or her ability to perform a specific task (Bandura, 1997), and is a key concept of social cognitive theory. This belief is premised on an individual thinking if an action will bring the desired result, and whether an outcome can be changed based on his or her behavior. Self-efficacy beliefs are domain specific, meaning they differ depending on the contexts in which they occur. For example, students can have different levels of self-efficacy for their mathematics performance than for their English performance.



Bandura (1997) stated that there are four sources that contribute towards self-efficacy judgments: (a) enactive experience, (b) vicarious experience, (c) verbal persuasion, and (d) emotional arousal. Enactive experience relates to a student's expectations based on his or her own past performance of the task. For example, if a student does well on a mathematics exam, his or her beliefs about being successful in mathematics is likely to increase. Enactive experience is the strongest influence on self-efficacy beliefs. Vicarious judgments are acquired by watching models' experience with a task. This source of self-efficacy may be illustrated by a student comparing his or her test scores with students around him or her. Self-efficacy beliefs are likely to increase if a student does better than others around him or her. Judgments gained from verbal persuasion come from messages students' receive from role models about their ability to perform a task. In this respect, encouragement assists self-efficacy beliefs while discouragement is likely to have the opposite effect. Finally, judgments made from emotional arousal are made from feelings related to success or failure at a task. For example, high levels of test anxiety have been found to make a person feel like he or she is going to fail.

**Self-efficacy for learning**. Self-efficacy refers to beliefs about how successful a person could be in a given course of action. The course of action investigated in this study is learning. Self-efficacy for learning is a student's beliefs about using self-regulatory processes to learn new tasks (Zimmerman & Kitsantas, 2005). Self-regulated learning is related to "learning that results from students' self-generated thoughts and behaviors that are systematically oriented toward the attainment of their learning goals" (Schunk, 2001, p. 125). Students' self-efficacy for learning can determine their choice of activities in their classes and ultimately their performance in those classes. The students with a strong sense of self-efficacy for learning have higher academic



accomplishments and motivation to participate in college preparatory related activities, such as engaging in self-regulatory learning in higher-level high school classes (Schunk, 2001).

Research has suggested self-efficacy beliefs related to learning as predictive of future academic performance related behavior choices (Bong, 2008; Pietsch, Walker, &

Chapman, 2003). Pietsch, Walker, and Chapman (2003) found self-efficacy was a strong predictor for academic performance in a sample of 416 high school students. Bong (2008) also found self-efficacy significantly predicted academic performance in a sample of 753 high school students. This author addressed students' perceptions of their environments, self-efficacy, and academic behavior in math. It was found that self-efficacy mediated all relationships between perceptions and academic behaviors.

Studies have also identified self-efficacy as a predictor for future college enrollment. Kerpelman, Eryigit, and Stephens (2008) conducted a study with a sample of 374 African American adolescents in grades seven through twelve. Students completed surveys that addressed self-efficacy, ethnic identity, perceived parental support for achievement, and future education orientation. The results of this study indicated that self-efficacy, ethnic identity, and maternal support were significant predictors of future education orientation. Based on these findings, Kerpelman et al. (2008) concluded that these predictors were important when addressing an adolescent's future educational goals.

#### **Triadic reciprocal determinism**

Of particular interest is Bandura's explanation regarding interactions involving human behavior. It is known as triadic reciprocal determinism. This explanation asserted that multiple factors influence how a person acts in any given situation. In this respect, the learning context is composed of the environment, such as parents, teachers, peers, and socioeconomic status; the



psychological characteristics of the person, such as efficacy beliefs; and the individual's behavior, such as school engagement and grades. All three of these factors influence each other and are highly interdependent (Bandura, 1986, 1997).

#### The Influence of Socioeconomic Status in Adaptive Academic Outcomes

An important influence on educational performance and attainment is the socioeconomic status of the adolescent's family (McLoyd, Kaplan, Purtell, Bagley, Hardaway, & Smalls, 2009). Research has consistently found that middle-class adolescents score higher on basic tests of academic skills, earn higher grades, and complete more years of schooling than their workingclass and lower socioeconomic status peers (Muller, Stage, & Kinzie, 2001; Schoon, Parsons, & Sacker, 2004). Adolescents who are from lower socioeconomic status levels also are more likely to score lower than their more advantaged counterparts on standardized achievement tests (Sackett, Kuncel, Arneson, Cooper, & Waters, 2009). Despite the narrowing of some socioeconomic gaps in school achievement, inequalities in achievement between the social classes is still prevalent, and the importance of socioeconomic status in determining educational achievement remains strong across all ethnic groups (Goyette & Xie, 1999; Goza & Ryabov, 2009; Hanson, 1994; Kao & Tienda, 1998; Lucas, 1996; Sims, 2012; Teachman & Paasch, 1998). Socioeconomic status also influences an adolescent's school performance through neighborhood processes. For example, poor African American students who live in neighborhoods with a higher proportion of middle-class neighbors value education more and exert greater effort in school than their counterparts who live in disadvantaged neighborhoods (Ceballo, McLoyd, & Toyokawa, 2004; Stewart, Stewart, & Simons, 2007).

Findings have explained that family background is significantly related to educational achievement because children from lower socioeconomic status levels are more likely to enter



elementary school scoring low on assessments of basic academic skills. This initial disadvantage is a combination of both genetic and environmental variables and can be cumulative over the lifespan. Middle-class adults generally have higher IQs than their lower socioeconomic status counterparts, and this advantage is passed on to their children – both through inheritance and through the benefit that middle-class youngsters receive from growing up under favorable environmental conditions (Teachman, 1996). Longitudinal studies have shown that problems with school as early as kindergarten are predictive of poor school performance in adolescence (Hamre & Pianta, 2001). Consequently, adolescents who enter high school without having mastered basic academic skills have an inadequate foundation to work with and quickly fall behind, with some dropping out of high school before graduating.

In light of the above, one reason for the relatively poorer school performance of lower socioeconomic status youth is that they begin school with a clear academic disadvantage (McLoyd et al. 2009). Another reason for this problem is stress, both before and during adolescence. Adolescents who come from lower-socioeconomic status backgrounds experience more stressful life events, report more daily hassles, and attend schools that have aversive environments (DuBois, Felner, Meares, & Krier, 1994; Felner, Brand, DuBois, Adan, Mulhall, & Evans, 1995; Fuller-Rowell, Evans, & Ong, 2012; Gillock & Reyes, 1999; Pungello, Kupersmidt, Burchinal, & Patterson, 1996). Studies have indicated that stress adversely affects adolescents' mental health, physical well-being, and school performance (Benner & Kim 2010; Burrell & Roosa, 2009; Carlo, Padilla-Walker, & Day, 2011; DuBois, Felner, Brand, Adan, & Evans, 1992; Felner et al., 1995; Fuller-Rowell et al., 2012; Kim & Brody 2005).

Research also suggests that parents from higher socioeconomic levels are more likely to be involved in their adolescent's education, especially through formal parent-teacher



organizations, like the PTA (Shumow & Miller, 2001). Middle-and upper-socioeconomic status parents are also more likely to be informed about their child's school, responsive to any problems their child may be having in school, and be active in selecting more rigorous courses for their child to take (Crosnoe & Huston, 2007). Because adolescents whose parents are involved in their schooling perform better than those whose parents are not involved, students from higher socioeconomic levels may have a distinct advantage in school in comparison to their less advantaged peers – in part – because of their parents' more active involvement (Henry, Cavanagh, & Oetting, 2011; Lee & Croninger, 1994; McLoyd et al. 2009).

Socioeconomic differences in school achievement are a complex and cumulative interaction of a variety of influences. It is important to take into account this broader environment in which individuals pursue their education (Caro, McDonald, & Willms, 2009; Gonzales, Cauce, Friedman, & Mason, 1996; Steinberg et al., 1996). Distinguishing between psychological and environmental variables is difficult, because there is interaction and influence among them. Living and attending school in a disadvantaged environment can contribute towards disengagement in school, which may lead a person to give up on any chance of success. Nevertheless, many adolescents from socioeconomically disadvantaged backgrounds have been successful in overcoming the barriers and tremendous odds against them. In this case, research suggests that social support is possibly the most important factor for achieving in school. Parents who utilize an authoritative style of parenting, are interested in their child's academic progress, and exhibit high aspirations regarding their child's educational attainment, as well as the availability of peers who support and encourage academic success have been found most important (Benner & Mistry, 2007; Brody, Stoneman, & Flor, 1995; Gregory, 1995; Melby, Fang, Wickrama, Conger, & Conger, 2008; Steinberg et al, 1996; Sui-Chu & Willms, 1996).



14

Thus, an adaptive home environment and having good friends can in some situations overcome the disadvantage that being low socioeconomic status can bring. Official records show that 69.2% of the total student population at the high school this study was conducted at participated in the free/reduced price lunch program during the 2012-2013 school year (State of Michigan, 2013). This percentage is indicative of the number of students at this school who come from lowincome families.

#### The Role of Parents in Adaptive Academic Outcomes

Research has found that adolescents' school performance is directly related to their parent's values and expectations (Jodl, Michael, Malanchuk, Eccles, & Sameroff, 2001). Parental encouragement of academic success can occur in several ways, all of which have been shown to be of benefit to an adolescent's performance in school. Parents who encourage success in school set higher standards for their child's school performance and homework. They also have higher aspirations for their child. This has been found to contribute to school success (Luthar et. al., 2006; Patrikakou, 1996; Wilson & Wilson, 1991). Parents who encourage success in school also hold values that are consistent with doing well in school, and they exhibit this by structuring their home environment to support the messages that children receive from their teachers (Benner Graham, & Mistry, 2008; Jodl et al., 2001; Sui-Chu & Willms, 1996). Studies indicate that adolescents in high school profit from having parents who help them learn more effective time management strategies and healthier work habits (Xu, 2004).

Parents who encourage success are more likely to attend school programs, to assist with selecting courses and to exhibit active interest in school activities and assignments. In other words, the parents are involved in their child's education. All of these behaviors have been found to contribute to students' success in school (Benner et al., 2008; Bogenschneider, 1997; Hill,



Castellino, Lansford, Nowlin, Dodge, Bates, & Pettit, 2004; Hoover-Dempsey & Sandier, 1995; Muller, 1998; Shumow & Miller, 2001).

An adolescent may think that academics are both important and more conquerable if his or her parents are involved (Grolnick & Slowiaczek, 1994; Ibanez, Kuperminc, Jurkovic, & Perilla, 2004; Zhang, Haddad, Torres, & Chen, 2011). By making a positive impression, teachers may also take more notice of the student whose parent is involved (Kuperminc, Darnell, & Alvarez-Jiminez, 2008). In contrast, students may disengage from school if their parents show no interest in their schooling (Wood, Kurtz-Costes, Rowley, & Okeke-Adeyanju, 2010). And the way that parents involve themselves in school matters. Findings indicate that encouraging and expecting achievement in school, and actively being engaged in school activities, are both effective forms of parental involvement (Hill & Tyson, 2009). Interestingly, helping with homework is not. Furthermore, parental involvement has a larger effect when the adolescent attends a school where many other parents are involved as well (Pong, 1998).

Parenting style has also been found to influence a student's school performance. Numerous research findings have suggested that authoritative parenting is related to success in school during adolescence. This is manifested by better academic performance, better attendance, higher expectations, more positive academic beliefs, and higher engagement in school (Corville-Smith, Ryan, Adams, & Dalicandro, 1998; Li, Lerner, & Lerner, 2010; Murray, 2009; Sirin & Rogers-Sirin, 2004; Steinberg, Lamborn, Darling, Mounts, & Dornbusch, 1994; Wentzel, 1998). This type of parenting has a high degree of responsiveness to the child's needs while maintaining a high degree of demandingness – or expectations. It is warm, firm, consistent, non-aversive, and fair. In contrast, parenting that is harsh, inconsistent, or incompetent is associated with less engagement in school and lower achievement (Clark, Dogan, & Akbar,



2003; DeBaryshe, Patterson, & Capaldi, 1993; Eamon, 2005; Melby & Conger, 1996; Wang, Pomerantz, & Chen, 2007). Additionally, extreme parental permissiveness, not harshness, is related to higher rates of school dropout (Rumberger, Ghatak, Poulos, Ritter, & Dornbusch, 1990). It seems that if parents let their children do whatever they want, this lack of structure may contribute to failure in a system that requires structured support. Furthermore, research has also found authoritative parenting to help struggling early adolescents do better in school (Catterall, 1998).

There are many reasons why authoritative parenting promotes school success. One is that it assists with the development of an adaptive achievement orientation – including efficacy beliefs – that enhances an adolescent's performance in school (Aunola, Stattin, & Nurmi, 2000; DeBaryshe, Patterson, & Capaldi, 1993; Duchesne & Ratelle, 2010; Glasgow, Dornbusch, Ritter, Troyer, & Steinberg, 1997; Mofid, Azadfallah, & Tabatabai, 2012). This is partly explained by authoritative parents being more likely themselves to hold adaptive beliefs about their child's achievement and less likely to exhibit excessive control – two factors that have been found to strengthen adolescents' work ethic and intrinsic motivation (Grolnick & Slowiaczek, 1994). Exhibiting a strong work orientation enhances achievement in school directly, and through the positive impression it makes on teachers (Farkas, Grobe, & Shuan, 1990).

In sum, research findings suggest that consistent, authoritative parenting is associated with many benefits for the adolescent, including better performance in school (McLoyd et al., 2009; Steinberg, 2001; Wentzel, 1994). Authoritative parents are also the type of parent to have more involvement in school activities, which contributes to success in school (Crosnoe, 2001; Juang & Silbereisen, 2002; Paulson, 1994; Steinberg, Dornbusch, & Brown, 1992). And, as mentioned earlier, students of authoritative parents also do better in school because the values



and expectations they encounter at school are echoed at home (Arunkumar, Midgley, & Urdan, 1999; Zhang et al., 2011).

#### The Role of Teachers in Adaptive Academic Outcomes

There are many similarities between good teachers and good parents (Allen, Pianta, Gregory, Mikami, & Lun, 2011; Wentzel, 2002). Research suggests that authoritative parenting is not only beneficial in parent-child relationships. The pattern of classroom variables related with adaptive student behavior and beliefs falls within the realm of the authoritative family environment (Gregory, Cornell, Fan, Sheras, Shih, & Huang, 2010; Pellerin, 2005). Adolescents have been found to benefit significantly in school where their teachers adopt an authoritative style of classroom management. More specifically, students are engaged and achieve more in school when their schools have a high level of responsiveness – to the adolescent's needs – and high level of expectations to achieve. Furthermore, academic orientation and psychological adjustment interact and influence each other. This means that an adaptive school environment – where relationships between students and teachers are positive, and teachers are both responsive and demanding – promotes adolescents' psychological well-being in addition to their better performance in school (Eccles, 2004; Gutierrez, 2000; Kalil & Ziol-Guest, 2008; Reddy, Rhodes, & Mulhall, 2003; Wang, Selman, Dishion, & Stormshak, 2010).

In general, students and teachers have reported more satisfaction when their classes combine a moderate degree of structure with high student participation and high teacher support. This finding has been suggested in research of both Caucasian and minority students from various socioeconomic backgrounds (Langer, 2001; Vieno, Perkins, Smith, & Santinello, 2005; Way & Robinson, 2003; Wentzel, 2002). In these classes, teachers encourage students to participate while maintaining effective control of the class. Classes that focus too much on



completing assignments with minimal student participation have been found to make students lose interest, unhappy, and feel anxious (Moos, 1978). Students achieve more when their teachers spend most of the class time on lessons, start and finish lessons on schedule, provide clear constructive criticism about their performance, communicate expectations in an unambiguous manner, and congratulate students wholeheartedly when they do well (Eccles & Roeser, 2011; Rutter, 1983; Wang et al., 2010).

A major influence on how much students like going to school is the extent to which they feel their teachers respect and care about them (Hallinan, 2008). Students in schools where teachers are supportive but firm and maintain high expectations for behavior and academic work feel closer to their school and have adaptive achievement motives. These beliefs and emotions contribute to higher test scores, fewer academic problems, better school attendance, lower rates of delinquency, and more supportive friendships (Eccles, 2004; Li & Lerner, 2011; Loukas, Suzuki, & Horton, 2006; Ryan & Patrick, 2001; Way & Pahl, 2001). Findings also indicate that students exhibit higher achievement when the classroom environment promotes cooperation, instead of competition, between students (Roseth, Johnson, & Johnson, 2008).

In light of the above, the academic expectations that teachers communicate to their students has been found to be extremely important. Research studies indicate a strong correlation between teacher expectations and student performance. One reason is because teachers' expectations are often accurate assessments of their students' ability. Another reason is because teacher expectations have been found to create self-fulfilling prophecies that influence how their students behave in class (de Boer, Bosker, & van der Werf, 2010; Jussim, Eccles, & Madon, 1996). Teachers form these expectations from different sources. Unfortunately, research suggests that a student's socioeconomic and ethnic background likely play a part in how teachers base



their expectations. These factors sometimes may consciously and unconsciously mold a teacher's understanding of how well a student will do, consequently affecting a student's learning. For example, a teacher may call on poor or minority students less often than he or she calls on White students or students from higher socioeconomic levels – which may send a message to students about whose responses the teacher believes will be correct and insightful.

Several studies have reported that African American and Hispanic students perceive their teachers as having low expectations for them as well as holding stereotypes about their likelihood of engaging in delinquent behavior (Spencer, 2005). In line with this, there is research that suggests White teachers rate the misbehavior of African American students more severely than African American teachers do (Downey & Pribesh, 2004). This is associated with African American students receiving harsher discipline and more severe punishments than their counterparts receive for similar misconduct in school. Over the years this type of treatment has been shown likely to adversely affect the student's interest in school. Consequently, a teacher's biases held against minority and adolescents from low socioeconomic backgrounds may make it difficult for students from these groups to attain a level of academic accomplishment that allows them to move up in socioeconomic status. Furthermore, this type of treatment by teachers – having low expectations for some ethnic groups while holding high expectations for others – can contribute to students from different ethnicities feeling hostile against each other (Rosenbloom & Way, 2004).

Not surprisingly, parents also play an important role in developing teacher expectations. Findings from a recent study of Latino students suggest that the amount of involvement that parents exhibit in school directly influences an adolescent's school achievement. As mentioned previously, adolescents whose parents are involved in school achieve more than their



counterparts. However, this involvement has also been found to positively affect teachers' expectations for an adolescent's achievement, and contributes to better student performance (Kuperminc, Darnell, & Alvarez-Jiminez, 2008).

#### The Role of Peers in Adaptive Academic Outcomes

There are also findings that suggest friends influence an adolescent's performance in school (Lynch, Lerner, & Leventhal, 2013). Some studies report that friends are the most important influences on an adolescent's day-to-day school behaviors, such as doing homework and exerting effort in class (Kurdek, Fine, & Sinclair, 1995; Midgley & Urdan, 1995; Steinberg et al., 1996). So, although parents have been found to be stronger influences on long-range educational plans, what adolescents do in school on a daily basis is more influenced by their friends. Therefore, one of the main reasons that adolescents growing up in poor neighborhoods perform worse academically is that they most often find themselves surrounded by peers who are disengaged from school (South, Baumer, & Lutz, 2003).

Peer influence is popularly seen as a negative aspect of adolescent development, contributing to the performance of various types of delinquent behaviors. However, as mentioned above, this notion is not correct. Friends can have a positive influence as well. Research findings indicate that the impact of an adolescent's friends on his or her school performance depends on the academic orientation of the friends in question. Having friends who earn high grades and aspire to further their education can promote an adolescent's performance in school. In contrast, having friends who aren't doing well in school may impede it (Lynch et al., 2013; Steinberg et al., 1996). Consistent with this is the finding that students whose friends are more engaged in school are themselves more engaged and less likely to drop out (Ream & Rumberger, 2008).



Additionally, friends can influence the courses an adolescent selects and plays a significant role in girls' decisions to enroll in advanced classes in subjects such as math and science (Riegle-Crumb, Farkas, & Muller, 2006). Students' grades also conform over time in relation to the grades of their friends (Mounts & Steinberg, 1995). Students with best friends who perform well in school are more likely to exhibit improvements in their own school performance than are students who begin at similar levels of achievement but whose friends aren't focused towards academics. This influence is also true for future college plans. Research has found that among adolescents who aren't high performers in school, those with friends who are high performers are more likely to plan to continue their education than are those with friends who aren't doing well in school (Flashman, 2012; Veronneau, Vitaro, Brendgen, Dishion, & Tremblay, 2010).

Although peers can influence school performance in various ways, many researchers have noted that the influence of peer culture in the United States on academic performance in school is far more negative than positive (Steinberg et al., 1996; Steinberg, 2014). This is possibly why adolescents with an extremely high orientation toward peers have a tendency to perform poorly in school (Fuligni & Eccles, 1993). In contrast, adolescents who don't have many – if any – friends often have a stronger academic orientation than relatively more popular students (Luthar & McMahon, 1996; Wentzel & Asher, 1995). As the transition to middle school is made, adolescents start to become increasingly worried about how their friends will react to their success in school. One study found, for example, that by eighth grade students didn't want their peers to see them as caring much about academics, even though they realized that it would be beneficial to demonstrate adaptive academic behaviors to their teachers (Juvonen & Murdock, 1995).



It's important to note that being adept in school doesn't have to mean that an adolescent can't have a decent social life. A recent study where adolescents kept daily diaries of their time usage gives us insight into the differences between high- and low-performing students in how they spend their time (Witkow, 2009). Consistent with the literature, students who perform better than their peers in school spend more time studying. This is true for both weekdays and weekends. A significant difference between the groups is in how much – and when – they spend time with their friends. High-performing adolescents spend less time with their friends than do their low-performing counterparts on weekdays, but not on weekends. This indicates that adolescents who do well in school are still able to hang out with friends. They do this by managing their time adaptively during the week. It's been shown that adolescents are more likely to spend time with peers whose orientation toward school is similar to their own. In light of this, one reason that high-performing students spend less time with friends on weekdays is that their friends are also doing what they themselves are engaged in - studying.

There have been multiple studies that have investigated how the influences of peers and parents operate together to affect an adolescent's academic performance in school (Brown, Mounts, Lamborn, & Steinberg, 1993; Fletcher, Darling, Steinberg, & Dornbusch, 1995; Gonzales, Cauce, Friedman, & Mason, 1996; Kurdek et al., 1995; Steinberg et al., 1996; Steinberg, 2014). These studies suggest that parents have an influence on an adolescent's choice of friends. The selected friends then can influence their school performance (Brown et al., 1993). Having academically oriented friends is especially beneficial to adolescents from single-parent homes, where it's more likely that parental involvement in school will be low (Garg, Melanson, & Levin, 2007). In the same light, having friends who don't value school success may negate the benefits of authoritative parenting (Steinberg et al., 1996). Therefore, it is simplistic and



erroneous to attribute the academic success – or failure – of an adolescent to a specific factor. It is more proper to understand the mentioned phenomenon as a complex, reciprocal interaction between numerous factors.


#### **CHAPTER 3**

## METHODOLOGY

# **Research Design**

A cross-sectional research design was used in this study. This design was appropriate when conducting survey research with adolescents. The cross-sectional design allows for simultaneous measurement and comparison of responses for different age groups (Kerlinger & Lee, 2000). This design also controls for participant attrition as no treatment or intervention is required.

## **Participants**

The participants in this study were attending a single public school high school in southeastern Michigan. This sample was drawn from a population of approximately 1,900 students. A total of 332 students in grades 9 through 12 participated in the study. The reported ethnic makeup of the school population was 72% Caucasian, 14% African-American, 10% Asian, 2% Hispanic, 1% Multiethnic, and 1% that identified as "Other."

## Procedure

Three teachers provided use of their classes for data collection. These teachers provide instruction in English, mathematics, and art to students in grades 9, 10, 11, and 12. The researcher provided 335 parent research information sheets, envelopes, and postage to be mailed to parents whose children who were in classes taught by the three teachers who volunteered for the study.

The information sheets sent to the parents described the research project, guaranteed anonymity, and discussed relevant rights of research participants. Parents also were given information on methods of opting out their child from participating. Parents could refuse their



child's participation by contacting the researcher at a provided telephone number, through an email address, or by signing and returning the tear-off portion of the information sheet. Parents were asked to notify the researcher within two weeks of receipt of the research information sheet if they did not want their child to participate in the research. Parents who allowed their child to participate did not have to do anything.

Once the two weeks elapsed, students were asked to participate as a class in their respective classrooms. School administrators and teachers were not present during recruitment due to being a potential source of coercion. Nonparticipating students – who did not assent and/or were parentally prohibited – had their names circled on the participant list. Once all the students had been identified in the classroom, the list with names was destroyed. The surveys completed by the students were not linked to any identifiable information and each had a random code number assigned. Thus, these instruments could not be traced to the student who completed them. Survey instruments were numbered and placed in packets in counterbalanced order for distribution to the participating students.

Before distributing the survey packets, students were given a letter of assent. This assent described the research project and assured participants that their participation is voluntary, anonymous, and had no relation whatsoever to school. Furthermore, the students were informed that nonparticipation or withdrawal during participation would not affect their grades or standing in school negatively. They were told the research study was investigating issues involving a student's academic success in school. This description and assurance also was explained verbally to the participants. Only students who were parentally allowed and thereafter assented to participate were given survey packets. A respective class period is 60 minutes. In light of this, a period of 15 minutes was allotted to obtain assent and 45 minutes to complete the surveys.



Arrangements were made to have nonparticipating students complete school-related work during data collection. This procedure was repeated six times throughout the day. All data were obtained in the classrooms, with absent students excluded from the study.

## Instruments

**School engagement.** The School Engagement Questionnaire (SEQ) is an instrument that measures high school students' self-reported effort and investment in math, English, and social studies classes (Fredricks, McColskey, Meli, Mordica, Montrosse, & Mooney, 2011; Steinberg, 1996). *How often do you pay attention during each of these classes?* – is a question asked on this survey. There are two versions of the SEQ. One measures engagement on the three classes listed above in 12 items – 4 questions repeated for each class. Subsequent versions have discarded the social studies section because high school students are more likely to be enrolled in math and English courses in comparison to social studies (Kenny, Blustein, Chaves, Grossman, & Gallagher, 2003). Both the 12-item and 8-item versions have been shown to be reliable and valid. For this investigation, the 8-item version was utilized due to the aforementioned reason.

*Scoring.* This instrument is scored on a Likert-type scale. Items 1 and 5 have a score range of 1 to 6. Items 2, 3, 4, 6, 7, and 8 are have a score range of 1 to 5. The 8 items are summed up to get an overall score of engagement. Higher scores reflect higher levels of engagement and vice-versa. Total scores can range from 8 to 42.

*Reliability.* Using the 8-item measure, an investigation of 89 males and 85 females aged between 13 and 17 reported an internal consistency of .77 (Kenny, et al., 2003). Other researchers found a .80 for a sample of 689 participants in nine through twelfth grade (Wettersten, Guilmino, Herrick, Hunter, Kim, Jagow, Beecher, Faul, Baker, Rudolph, Ellenbecker, & McCormick, 2005). Furthermore, a sample of 197 adolescents ranged in age



from 13 to 17 yielded a coefficient of .74 (Perry, 2008). The Cronbach alpha coefficient for the present study of 332 students was .76, which was similar to that achieved by Perry (2008).

*Validity.* The School Engagement Questionnaire is a valid measure. In several studies it has been found to positively correlate with a similar instrument, the Identification with School Questionnaire. The ISQ (Voelkl, 1996) is a reliable instrument designed to measure the educational values and feelings of belongingness of students to school. One investigation yielded an alpha of .39 between the two (Kenny et al., 2003). Results of another study found a coefficient of .33 (Wettersten et al., 2005). And, Perry (2008) reported the relationship to be a .42. Furthermore, the School Engagement Questionnaire was also found to positively correlate with student ratings of grades, perceptions of academic ability, and perceptions of the importance of school (Taylor, Casten, Flickinger, Roberts, & Fulmore, 1994).

Academic self-efficacy. The Self-Efficacy for Learning Form (SELF) is an instrument that measures students' beliefs about their ability to be successful in relation to various academic situations (Zimmerman & Kitsantas, 2005). When you think you did poorly on a test you just finished, can you go back to your notes and locate all the information you had forgotten? – is a description of one of these situations. The SELF, which was found to measure one factor – self-efficacy for learning – initially consisted of 57 items which later was reduced to 19. This was done in the interest of convenience and based on high reliability results (Zimmerman & Kitsantas, 2005, 2007). The resulting abridged form – SELF-A – was used in this study.

*Scoring.* Items on the SELF are rated on a percentage-based Likert-type scale. This ranges from 0 to 100 broken into 10 percent increments – resulting in 11 possible selections for each item. Higher scores represent adaptive self-efficacy for learning beliefs. In contrast, maladaptive self-efficacy for learning beliefs are reflected through lower scores.



*Reliability.* Zimmerman and Kitsantas (2005) – using the 57-item measure – reported that the Cronbach's alpha for a sample of 180 girls aged 14 to 19 was .99. A sample of 167 females and 56 males with a mean age of 22 yielded an alpha coefficient of .98. Using the scores from this second sample, the researchers reduced the number of items to 19 and performed an exploratory principal component factor analysis. This revealed that the new SELF-A was measuring only one factor – self-efficacy for learning – and had a reliability coefficient of .97 (Zimmerman & Kitsantas, 2007).

Additionally, the SELF-A has been used by other researchers as well. In a high school sample of 46 males and 71 females the alpha coefficient reported was .94 (Pearson, 2010). Ethnicities represented in all of the aforementioned studies were Caucasian, African-American, Hispanic, and Asian/Other. The Cronbach alpha coefficient for the present study of .91 was similar to that achieved by Pearson (2010) and Zimmerman and Kitsantas (2007).

*Validity.* Studies have found the SELF to be a valid instrument. It has been found to correlate with a single factor measure of self-regulated learning with a coefficient of .72. This measure - Rating Student Self-Regulated Learning Outcomes: A Teacher Scale (Zimmerman & Martinez-Pons, 1988) – was reported to have a reliability coefficient of .96 (Zimmerman & Kitsansas, 2005). Furthermore, the SELF and SELF-A were found to be correlated at .67 which was statistically significant.

**Parental behaviors.** Parental behaviors was measured using the 52-item Parenting Style and Parental Involvement Questionnaire (Paulson, 1994; Paulson & Sputa, 1996). It has five distinct scales – measuring an adolescent's perceptions of his/her parent's demandingness, responsiveness, values toward achievement, interest in schoolwork, and involvement in school functions. As mentioned earlier, this study will address parenting styles through two common



dimensions – demandingness and responsiveness. The Parental Demandingness scale was developed to measure the amount of control an adolescent believed his or her parents exert on him or her. *I would describe my mother as a strict parent*, is one of the 15 items on this scale. The second dimension was measured using the 15-item Parental Responsiveness scale. *My mother usually tells me the reason for rules*, illustrates one of the choices available.

Paulson (1994) also found three dimensions of parental involvement and created their respective scales. They are values toward achievement, interest in schoolwork, and involvement in school functions. *My mother thinks I should go to college*, is one of the 8 items on the Values Toward Achievement scale. The Interest in Schoolwork scale has 9 items. *My mother usually knows the grades I get*, is an item on this scale. Finally, the Involvement in School Functions scale is a 5 item measure. *My mother usually goes to parent-teacher conferences*, is indicative of one of the selections that can be made here.

Adolescents respond to each scale twice, once for their mother/mother-like figure and again for their father/father-like figure. Thus, there are a total of 10 scales – 5 for mother/mother-like figure and 5 for father/father-like figure. Scale wording is modified to reflect such interpretations.

*Scoring.* Items on the Parental Demandingness, Parental Responsiveness, Values Toward Achievement, Interest in Schoolwork, and Involvement in School Functions scales are all rated on a Likert-type format. Scores for each item range from 1 to 5, with higher scores indicating a higher likeliness of that item occurring and vice-versa. The Parental Demandingness scales have a score range of 15 to 75. Items 3, 4, 7, 10, 11, 12, and 14 are reverse scored. The Parental Responsiveness scales also have a range of 15 to 75 with items 1, 4, 5, 8, 9, 10, and 15 reverse scored.



There is a score range of 8 to 40 with item 8 reverse scored for the Values Towards Achievement scales. Possible scores for the Interest in Schoolwork scales range from 9 to 45 with items 1, 2, and 7 reverse scored. Finally, the Involvement in School Functions scales have a range of 5 to 25 with items 2 and 4 reverse scored. As with each item, higher scores for each scale suggest a higher likeliness of parents demonstrating the construct in question.

*Reliability.* Paulson (1994), in a study of 247 adolescents between the ages of 14 to 16, reported moderate internal consistency for all 10 scales. Table 1 lists the alpha coefficients found as well as the alpha coefficients for the present study.

#### Table 1

## Cronbach Alpha Coefficients for Adolescent Self-reports

	Paulson & S	Sputa, 1996	Present Study		
Subscales	Mother	Father	Mother	Father	
Demandingness	.78	.84	.78	.78	
Responsiveness	.84	.87	.80	.78	
Values	.79	.78	.82	.86	
Interest in school work	.77	.71	.69	.71	
Involvement in school	.72	.71	.68	.57	

*Validity.* The parental style and involvement scales have been found to be valid measures. Administered to both parent and child, parental and adolescent ratings have consistently yielded positive correlations with each other (Paulson, 1994). These are reported in Table 2.



	<u>Mo</u>	ther	Father		
Subscales	Boys	Girls	Boys	Girls	
Demandingness	.46	.34	.42	.34	
Responsiveness	.29	.44	.35	.36	
Values	.43	.49	.49	.37	
Interest in school work	.26	.51	.39	.40	
Involvement in school	.37	.65	.42	.58	

# Correlations between Adolescent and Parent Reports

Furthermore, significant correlations also have been found with similar scales in the Children's Report of Parental Behavior (CRPBI; Schaefer, 1965). There is a .60 and .64 correlation, respectively, between maternal and paternal demandingness and the Enforcement of Discipline scale of the CRPBI. Additionally, maternal and paternal responsiveness respectively yielded .76 and .79 with the CRPBI's Acceptance of Individuation scale.

**Teacher caring.** The Perceived Teacher Caring scale (Teven & McCroskey, 1997) was developed to measure a student's beliefs about his or her teacher's attitude toward him or her. *Understanding versus not understanding* is representative of one of the 9 items on this instrument. And, it has been found to measure one construct – perceived teacher caring.

*Scoring.* This scale is scored in a Likert-type format. Each item has a respective positive and negative belief with numbered selections separating them. The ranges for each item are 1 through 7. Selections at each end are indicative of very strong perceptions. Numbers that fall inbetween suggest weaker beliefs. Furthermore, items 1, 2, 4, 6, and 8 are reverse scored. Possible scores range from 9 to 63, with higher scores suggesting positive perceptions and vice-versa.

*Reliability.* Initial reliability using 235 university students yielded an alpha coefficient of .95 (Teven & McCroskey, 1997). A further study found similar results. In a sample of 204 males



and 193 females aged 14 to 21, reliability was .92 (Smith, 2005). The obtained Cronbach alpha coefficient for the present study was .57.

*Validity.* An iterated principal factor analysis found that the Perceived Teacher Caring scale measures one construct – perceived teacher caring (Teven & McCroskey, 1997). It has also been correlated with Koehn and Crowell's (1996, as cited in Teven & McCroskey, 1997) perceived caring scale and yielded a coefficient of .86.

**Teacher academic expectations.** The Academic Press scale (Midgley, Maehr, Hruda, Anderman, Anderman, Freeman, Gheen, Kaplan, Kumar, Middleton, Nelson, Roeser, & Urdan, 2000) was used to measure teacher academic expectations in this study. This measure is part of the larger Pattern of Adaptive Learning Scales (PALS). In particular, the authors have identified the Academic Press scale as items 6, 10, 15, 17, 19, 53, and 57 of the PALS. *My teacher accepts nothing less than my full effort* – is representative of one of the mentioned 7 items.

*Scoring.* This scale is scored in a Likert-type format. Each item has a score range of 1 to 5. The 7 items are summed up to get an overall score of academic press for understanding. Higher scores reflect higher levels of teacher academic expectations and vice-versa. Total scores can range from 7 to 35.

*Reliability.* The Academic Press scale has been shown to be a reliable measure of teacher academic expectations. Midgley and colleagues (2000) utilized early adolescents in their initial study. Their findings reported an internal consistency of .79 for this scale. The Cronbach alpha coefficient for the present study of .79 was the same as that obtained by Midgley et al. (2000).

*Validity.* The PALS was originally validated by the developers in 1997 (Midgley et al., 2000). They have reported that it has been administered to public school students in nine, low to middle-income, highly diverse Midwestern school districts. Recently, Temple (2013) found that



the Academic Press scale is positively related to emotional and behavioral engagement in school, as well as overall grade point average.

**Peer influence.** A peer influence questionnaire was utilized to measure perceived peer influence. It has a total of two scales. One is the Conventional Involvement scale, which assessed peer adaptive behaviors. *How many of your friends like school?* – is representative of one of the 7 items that comprise this measure. The other is the Trouble scale, which assessed maladaptive peer behaviors. *How many of your friends have quit or want to quit school?* – is one of the 7 items that can be found in this scale.

Both of these measures were part of a larger Family, Friends, and Self research instrument (Simpson & McBride, 1992). It was developed to evaluate the social and psychological health of youth in a governmental drug prevention program. The FFS has 10 scales with a total of 60 items. However, only the 2 abovementioned scales were used for this study.

*Scoring.* The Conventional Involvement and Trouble scales, respectively, are scored in the same manner. Both ask adolescents to rate their responses in a Likert format. Scores range from 0 to 4 for each item and 0 to 28 for each scale. Higher ratings are indicative of adolescents believing their friends are engaging in either conventional - good - or troublesome - bad - behaviors. Lower ratings suggest the opposite.

*Reliability.* The Conventional Involvement scale has shown to be a reliable measure. In a study of 518 males and 182 females ranging in age from 13 to 18, Cronbach alpha was found to be .73 for conventional peer involvement (Simpson & McBride, 1992). Similarly, the same study yielded a reliability coefficient of .86 for the trouble scale. The Cronbach alpha coefficient for



the Conventional Involvement scale for the present study was .64, with an alpha coefficient of .87 obtained for the trouble scale.

*Validity.* Both scales have been found to be valid measures. Simpson and McBride (1992) reported significant coefficients between the mentioned scales and counselor intake ratings in a drug prevention program. For example, the relationship between the Conventional Involvement scale and a drug problem composite was -.26. Furthermore, the Trouble scale yielded .18 and .19 with a social problem composite and criminal/legal involvement rating, respectively.

**Demographic survey.** A short demographic survey was utilized in this investigation as well. Students were required to indicate their age, sex, grade in school, ethnic background, and self-reported average letter grade received. There were also items asking about the number of parents/parent-like figures at home, the parents number of years of schooling, and the parents employment status. Items on the survey are in a multiple-choice categorical response or fill-in the blank response format depending on the nature of the question.

## **Statistical Analysis**

A nonexperimental design was employed in this investigation. Data computation was done using SPSS version 20. An alpha of .05 was chosen to determine statistical significance in accordance with accepted educational research practice. The following table addresses the research questions and the methods of analysis.



# Research Questions and Statistical Analysis

	Hypothesis	Variables	Statistical Analysis			
Resea paren	arch question 1: Does an adolescentration and academic grade	ent's academic engagement in school es??	mediate the relationship between			
H <sub>1</sub> : H <sub>01</sub> : Resea	Academic engagement in school will mediate the relationship between parental behaviors and academic grades. Academic engagement in school will not mediate the relationship between parental behaviors and academic grades.	Outcome Variable   Grades   Mediating Variables   School Engagement   Initial Variables   Mother demandingness   Father demandingness   Mother responsiveness   Father responsiveness   Father responsiveness   Mother:   values toward achievement   school function involvement   interest in schoolwork   Father:   values toward achievement   school function involvement   interest in schoolwork	Multiple linear regression analysis			
H <sub>2</sub> : Ho <sub>2</sub> :	Adolescents' school engagement will mediate the relationship between variations in teacher behaviors and variations in self-reported academic grades. Adolescents' school engagement will not mediate the relationship between variations in teacher behaviors and variations in self-reported academic grades.	<u>Outcome Variable</u> Grades <u>Mediating Variables</u> School Engagement <u>Initial Variables</u> Teacher Caring Teacher academic expectations	Multiple linear regression analysis			
Resea influe	Research Question 3: Does an adolescent's school engagement in school mediate the relationship between peer influence and self-reported academic grades?					
H <sub>3</sub> : Ho <sub>3</sub> :	School engagement will mediate the relationship between variations in peer influence and variations in academic grades. School engagement will not	Outcome Variable Grades <u>Mediating Variables</u> School Engagement	Multiple linear regression analysis			



mediate the relationshin Initial	Variables				
between variations in peer influence and variations in academic grades.	aptive behaviors publesome behaviors				
Research Question 4: Does adolescents' school engagement in school mediate the relationship between academic self-efficacy and grades?					
H4: School engagement will mediate the relationship between academic self- efficacy and academic grades. Outcon Grades   H04: School engagement will not mediate the relationship between academic self- efficacy and academic grades. Initial V Acader	ne Variable ing Variables Engagement <u>Variables</u> nic Self-Efficacy	Multiple linear regression analysis			



#### **CHAPTER 4**

# **RESULTS OF DATA ANALYSIS**

The results of the data analysis used to describe the sample and address the research questions developed for this study are presented in Chapter 4. The chapter is divided into four sections. The first section provides a description of the sample using frequency distributions and measures of central tendency and dispersion. The second section includes baseline information on the scaled variables and a correlation matrix showing the relationships among the variables. Inferential statistical analyses are used in the third section of the chapter to provide results of the data analyses used to address the research questions and test the associated hypotheses. The fourth section used three stepwise multiple linear regression analyses to determine which predictor variables could be used to predict or explain three criterion variables: academic grades, school engagement, and academic self-efficacy.

The purpose of this study was to examine the mediating effects of school engagement on the relationship between adolescent's contextual environment and academic accomplishment. It was also to determine the most important variable that can predict academic grades, school engagement, and academic self-efficacy, respectively.

#### **Missing Data**

Some participants did not complete all of the items on the demographic survey and the other instruments. As the demographic information was not used in any of the inferential analyses to address the research questions, no action was taken. For the scaled variables, a missing values analysis was completed. The missing data were replaced with the mean scores for each of the missing variables.



## **Description of the Sample**

Research information sheets were sent to the homes of 335 participants via first class mail. Of this number, two parents did not give permission for their child to participate and one student did not assent to participate in the study. A total of 332 high school students participated in the study. These students were attending high school in a suburban area with an ethnically diverse population.

The students completed a short demographic survey that obtained data on their personal and school characteristics. The grade levels of the students were summarized using frequency distributions. Table 4 presents results of this analysis.

# Table 4

# Frequency Distributions – Grade Level of the Students

Grade Level	Number	Percent
Ninth	78	23.8
Tenth	23	7.0
Eleventh	36	11.0
Twelfth	191	58.2
Total	328	100.0

Missing 4

The majority of students (n = 191, 58.2%) reported they were in the twelfth grade, with the students in the ninth grade (n = 78, 23.8%) comprising the second largest group. Twenty-three (7.0%) students were in the tenth grade and 36 (11.0%) were in the eleventh grade. Four students did not provide a response to this question.

The students were asked to indicate their gender and ethnicity on the survey. Their responses were summarized using frequency distributions. Table 5 presents results of this analysis.



Gender and Ethnicity	Number	Percent
Gender		
Male	159	49.2
Female	164	50.8
Total	323	100.0
Missing 9		
Ethnicity		
African American	50	15.2
Asian/Pacific Islander	32	9.7
Caucasian	155	47.0
Hispanic	3	0.9
Middle Eastern	63	19.1
Multi-ethnic	5	1.5
Other	22	6.6
Total	330	100.0
Missing 2		

Frequency Distributions – Gender of the Students

A total of 164 (50.8%) female students participated in the study. The remaining 159 (49.2%) of the participants reported their gender as male. Nine students did not provide a response to this question.

The largest group of students (n = 155, 47.0%) reported their ethnicity as Caucasian, with 63 (19.1%) indicating their ethnicity was Middle Eastern. Fifty (15.2%) African Americans were included in the study, and 32 (9.7%) students indicated their ethnicity was Asian/Pacific Islander. Three (0.9%) Hispanics were among the students and 5 (1.5%) students reported they were multi-ethnic. Twenty-two (6.6%) students indicated their ethnicity as "other," but did not provide further explanation. Two students did not provide a response to this question.

The age of the students was obtained on the demographic questionnaire. The responses to this question were summarized using descriptive statistics. Table 6 presents results of this study.



				Range		
Number	Mean	SD	Median	Minimum	Maximum	
329	16.50	1.49	17.00	10	20	
Missing 3						

# Descriptive Statistics – Age of the Students

The mean age of the students was 16.50 (sd = 1.49) years, with a median of 17 years. The range of student ages was from 10 to 20 years of age. Three students did not provide a response to this question.

The participants were asked about their home life. Their responses to these questions are presented in Table 7.



# Frequency Distributions – Home Life

Home Life	Number	Percent
Number of Parents at Home		
One	71	21.5
Two	259	78.5
Total	330	100.0
Missing 2		
Mother employed		
Yes	218	71.5
No	87	28.5
Total	305	100.0
Missing 27		
Father employed		
Yes	255	86.7
No	39	13.3
Total	294	100.0
Missing 38		
Mother's education		
None	7	2.2
Elementary school	6	1.8
Middle school	29	8.9
High school	101	31.1
Some college	96	29.5
College graduate	86	26.5
Total	325	100.0
Missing 7		
Father's education		
None	8	2.5
Elementary school	8	2.5
Middle school	27	8.6
High school	112	35.8
Some college	70	22.3
College graduate	89	28.3
Total	314	100.0
Missing 18		

The majority of students (n = 259, 78.5%) were living in homes with two parents. Seventy-one (21.5%) were in homes with one parent. Two students did not provide a response to this question.



Most of the students (n = 218, 71.5%) reported that their mothers were employed, with 87 (28.5%) indicating that their mothers did not work. Twenty-seven students did not provide a response to this question.

The largest group of students (n= 255, 86.7%) indicated that their fathers were employed. The remaining students who responded to this question (n = 39, 13.3%) reported their fathers were unemployed. Thirty-eight students did not provide a response to this question.

When asked about their mothers' educational levels, 101 (31.1%) reported their mothers had completed high school, with 96 (29.5%) indicating their mothers had completed some college. Eight-six (26.5%) of the mothers were college graduates. As reported by the students, 7 (2.2%) mothers had no formal education, 6 (1.8%) had completed elementary school, and 29 (8.9%) had finished middle school. Seven students did not provide a response to this question.

The largest group of fathers (n = 112, 35.8%) had completed high school and 70 (22.3%) had some college. Eighty-nine (28.3%) students reported their fathers had graduated from college. Eight (2.5%) students reported their fathers had no formal education or had completed elementary school, with 27 (8.6%) indicating their fathers had finished middle school. Eighteen students did not provide a response to this question.

The students self-reported their academic grades. An 11-point scale, ranging from A to E, was used to allow students to indicate the type of grades they generally receive. The results of the frequency distributions used to summarize the students' responses are presented in Table 8.



Self-reported Grades	Number	Percent
A	33	10.2
A-/B+	73	22.6
B+/B	38	11.7
B/B-	36	11.2
B-/C+	68	20.9
C+/C	33	10.0
C/C-	17	5.2
C-/D+	18	5.5
D+/D	4	1.2
D/D-	3	0.9
E	2	0.6
Total	325	100.0
Missing 7		

Frequency Distributions – Self-reported Academic Grades

The largest group of students (n = 73, 22.6%) self-reported their grades as A-/B+, with 33 (10.2%) indicating they had all As. Thirty-six (11.2%) students indicated their grades were B/B- and 68 (20.9%) had B-/C+ grades. Thirty-eight (11.7%) students self-reported their grades as B+/B and 17 (5.2%) had grades that were C/C-. Eighteen (5.5%) students indicated their grades were C-/D+, with 33 (10.0%) reporting their grades as C+/C. Four (1.2%) students' grades were D+/D, 3(0.9%) had grades that were D/D-, and 2 (0.6%) had grades that were Es. Seven students did not provide a response to this question.

## **Description of the Scaled Variables**

The scaled variables were scored using the protocols developed by the authors. A missing values analysis was completed to determine the extent to which the variables had missing values. The missing values were replaced with the means for the variables. The scores were summarized using descriptive statistics for presentation in Table 9.



44

					Actual Range		Possible Range	
Variable	Ν	Mean	SD	Median	Minimum	Maximum	Minimum	Maximum
School engagement	332	29.64	5.52	30.00	10.00	41.00	8	42
Academic self-efficacy	332	63.91	15.43	66.58	19.47	98.95	0%	100%
Mother demandingness	332	3.08	.62	3.07	1.40	4.73	1	5
Father demandingness	332	2.91	.65	2.91	1.00	4.93	1	5
Mother responsiveness	332	3.27	.66	3.33	1.00	4.87	1	5
Father responsiveness	332	3.11	.65	3.11	1.00	4.73	1	5
Mother values	332	4.29	.70	4.50	1.13	5.00	1	5
Father values	332	4.20	.81	4.50	1.00	5.00	1	5
Mother interest in school	332	3.51	.71	3.56	1.44	5.00	1	5
Father interest in school	332	3.42	.74	3.42	1.00	5.00	1	5
Mother involvement in school	332	2.85	1.01	2.85	1.00	5.00	1	5
Father involvement in school	332	2.53	.90	2.60	1.00	5.00	1	5
Perceived teacher caring	332	4.31	.74	4.27	1.78	6.33	1	7
Academic press	332	3.34	.75	3.38	1.00	5.00	1	5
Peer adaptive behavior	332	2.14	.55	2.14	.43	4.00	0	4
Peer trouble	332	.84	.73	.71	0.00	4.00	0	4

# Description of the Scaled Variables

The scores for each of scales used in the study, with the exception of school engagement and academic efficacy, are presented as mean scores that reflect the original scaling. For each variable, higher scores indicate higher perceptions of the construct being measured. Higher scores for student engagement reflect higher levels of engagement. Academic efficacy is presented as a percentage. Higher scores for academic efficacy represent greater adaptive selfefficacy.

An intercorrelation matrix of the variables was completed to determine the extent to which the variables were related. Table 10 presents results of this analysis.



Study				Study Va	riables <sup>@</sup>			
Variables	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8
1	_							
2	.32**	_						
3	.35**	.44**	_					
4	01	.06	02	_				
5	02	.06	02	.33**	_			
6	.17**	.19**	.19**	29**	03	_		
7	.06	.12**	.17**	01	18	.24**	_	
8	.17**	.17**	.23**	.26**	02	.27**	.06	_
9	.17**	.13*	.21**	01	.28**	.20**	.15**	.42**
10	.04	.18**	.19**	.24**	.11*	.37**	.22**	.52**
11	.01	.12*	.12*	.11*	.29**	.10	.40**	.15**
12	.10	.08	.06	.03	.08	.25**	.20**	.12*
13	.04	.07	.08	03	.06	.05	.35**	09
14	.24**	.29**	.36**	01	.05	.19**	.23**	.15**
15	05	.20**	.16**	.07	.10*	.10	.21**	.12*
16	.18**	.32**	.23**	.03	.04	.10	.17**	.07
17	10	34**	21**	22**	09	10	08	16**

# Intercorrelation Matrix of Study Variables

\*p < .05; \*\*p < .01 <sup>®</sup>Study variables: 1 Academic Grades; 2 School engagement; 3 Academic Self-efficacy; 4 Mother demandingness; 5 Father demandingness; 6 Mother responsiveness; 7 Father responsiveness; 8 Mother values; 9 Father values; 10 Mother interest in school work; 11 Father interest in school work; 12 Mother involvement in school; 13 Father involvement in school; 14 Perceived teacher caring; 15 Academic Press; 16 Conventional involvement; 17 Peer Trouble



## Table 10 (continued)

Study				Stud	ly Variables <sup>@</sup>	2			
Variables	9	10	11	12	13	14	15	16	17
1									
2									
3									
4									
5									
6									
7									
8									
9	_								
10	.27**	_							
11	.53**	.39**	_						
12	01	.37**	.26**	_					
13	.08	.18**	.42**	.55*	_				
14	.17**	.20**	.12*	.12*	.13*	-			
15	.20**	.19**	.19**	.13*	.13*	.23**	_		
16	.14**	.16**	.20**	.20**	.22**	.21**	.11	_	
17	05	13*	08	05	07	20**	16**	19**	_

# Intercorrelation Matrix of Study Variables

p < .05; \*\*p < .01

@Study variables: 1 Academic Grades; 2 School engagement; 3 Academic Self-efficacy; 4 Mother demandingness; 5 Father demandingness; 6 Mother responsiveness; 7 Father responsiveness; 8 Mother values; 9 Father values; 10 Mother interest in school work; 11 Father interest in school work; 12 Mother involvement in school; 13 Father involvement in school; 14 Perceived teacher caring; 15 Academic Press; 16 Conventional involvement; 17 Peer Trouble

Academic grades were correlated with school engagement (r = .32), academic selfefficacy (r = .35), mother responsiveness (r = .17), mother values (r = .17), father values (r = .17), perceived teaching caring (r = .24), and conventional involvement (r = .18). The correlations with academic grades and the remainder of the independent variables were not statistically significant. The intercorrelations among the other variables were mixed.



## **Research Questions and Hypotheses**

Four research questions and associated hypotheses were developed for this study. Each of these questions was addressed using mediation analysis as described by Baron and Kenny (1986). The following four-step procedure was used to test the hypotheses:

- Step 1: Test the relationship between the predictor and criterion variable. If a statistically significant relationship exists, the analysis will progress to the second step. If the relationship is not statistically significant, the mediation analysis is stopped.
- Step 2: Test the relationship between the predictor and mediating variables. If a statistically significant relationship exists, the analysis progresses to the third step. If the relationship is not statistically significant, the mediation analysis is stopped.
- Step 3: Test the relationship between the mediating variable and the criterion variable. If a statistically significant relationship exists, the analysis progresses to the fourth step. If the relationship is not statistically significant, the mediation analysis is stopped.
- Step 4: Retest the relationship between the predictor and criterion variable, holding the mediating variable constant. If the relationship is not statistically significant, then the mediating variable is mediating the relationship between the predictor variable and the criterion variable. If the relationship is statistically significant, but the amount of variance on the fourth step is smaller than the first step, a partial mediation may be the outcome. In this instance, a Sobel's test is used to



determine if the mediating variable is partially mediating the relationship between the predictor and criterion variables.

All decisions on the statistical significance of the findings were made using a criterion alpha level of .05.

**Research question 1**: Does an adolescent's academic engagement in school mediate the relationship between parental behaviors and academic grades?

- H<sub>1</sub>: Academic engagement in school will mediate the relationship between parental behaviors and academic grades.
- H<sub>01</sub>: Academic engagement in school will not mediate the relationship between parental behaviors and academic grades.

A mediating analysis was used to determine if school engagement was mediating the relationship between mother demandingness and academic grades. Table 11 presents results of the mediation analysis.

# Table 11

Mediation Analysis: Mediating Role of School Engagement on the Relation between Mother Demandingness and Academic Grades

Predictor	Criterion	$R^2$	F	Standardized $\beta$
Step 1 Mother demandingness	Academic grades	<.01	.06	01NS
* <i>p</i> < .05; ** <i>p</i> < .01				

On the first step of the mediation analysis, mother demandingness was accounting for less than 1% of the variance in academic grades,  $\beta = -.01$ , F = 0.06, p > .05. Because of the nonsignificant findings on the first step, the mediation analysis was not continued.



Father demandingness was used as the predictor variance in a mediation analysis, with academic grades used as the criterion variable. School engagement was the mediating variable in this analysis. Table 12 presents results of this analysis.

## Table 12

Mediation Analysis: Mediating Role of School Engagement on the Relation between Father Demandingness and Academic Grades

Predictor	Criterion	$R^2$	F	Standardized $\beta$
Step 1 Father demandingness	Academic grades	<.01	.17	02NS
* <i>p</i> < .05; ** <i>p</i> < .01				

The relationship between father demandingness and academic grades, tested on the first step of the mediation analysis, was not statistically significant,  $\beta = -.02$ , F = 0.17, p > .05. Based on the nonsignificant finding on the first step, the mediation analysis could not be continued.

A mediation analysis was used to determine if school engagement was mediating the relationship between mother responsiveness and academic achievement. The results of this analysis are presented in Table 13.



Mediation Analysis: Mediating Role of School Engagement on the Relation between Mother Responsiveness and Academic Grades

Predictor	Criterion	$R^2$	F	Standardized $\beta$
<u>Step 1</u> Mother responsiveness	Academic grades	.03	9.91	.17**
<u>Step 2</u> Mother responsiveness	School engagement	.03	11.75	.19**
<u>Step 3</u> School engagement	Academic grades	.10	36.83	.32**
<u>Step 4</u> School engagement Mother responsiveness	Academic grades	.10 .01	36.83 21.04	.30** .12*
Sobel's test = 2.97. p = .001				

\**p* < .05; \*\**p* < .01

On the first step of the mediation analysis, a statistically significant relationship was found between mother responsiveness and academic grades,  $\beta = .17$ , F = 9.91, p < .001. The relation between mother responsiveness and school engagement was tested on the second step of the mediation analysis. The relationship between mother responsiveness and school engagement was statistically significant,  $\beta = .19$ , F = 11.75, p < .001. The relationship between school engagement and academic grades tested on the third step of the mediation analysis was statistically significant,  $\beta = .32$ , F = 36.82, p < .001. On the fourth step of the mediation analysis, the mediating variable, school engagement, was held constant. The standardized beta weight for the relationship between mother responsiveness was reduced from .17 (step 1) to .12 (step 4),  $R^2$ = .01, p = .029. Sobel's test was used to determine if a mediator variable significantly carries the influence of a predictor variable to a criterion variable (i.e., if the indirect effect of the predictor variable on the dependent variable through the mediator variable is significant). The obtained test statistic of 2.97 (p = .001) was statistically significant. This finding provided support that student



engagement was partially mediating the relationship between mother responsiveness and academic grades.

A mediation analysis was used to determine if school engagement was mediating the relationship between father responsiveness and academic grades. Table 14 presents results of this analysis.

# Table 14

Mediation Analysis: Mediating Role of School Engagement on the Relation between Father **Responsiveness and Academic Grades** 

Predictor	Criterion	$R^2$	F	Standardized $\beta$
Step 1 Father responsiveness	Academic grades	<.01	1.03	.06NS
$*n < 05 \cdot **n < 01$				

The first step of the mediation analysis tested the relationship between father responsiveness and academic grades. The results of this analysis were not statistically significant,  $\beta = .06$ , F = 1.03, p > 0.5. Because of the nonsignificant finding on the first step, the mediation analysis could not be continued.

Mother values was used as the predictor variable in a mediation analysis. Academic grades was used as the criterion variable in this analysis, with school engagement used as the mediating variable. Table 15 presents results of this analysis.



Mediation	Analysis:	Mediating	Role	of	School	Engagement	on	the	Relation	between	Mother
Values and	l Academic	c Grades									

Predictor	Criterion	$R^2$	F	Standardized $\beta$	
<u>Step 1</u> Mother values	Academic grades	.03	9.47	.17**	
<u>Step 2</u> Mother values	School engagement	.03	9.46	.17**	
<u>Step 3</u> School engagement	Academic grades	.10	36.83	.32**	
<u>Step 4</u> School engagement Mother values	Academic grades	.10 .01	36.83 21.12	.32** .12*	
Sobel's test = 2.73. p = .003					

p < .05; \*\*p < .01

On the first step of the mediation analysis, mother values was accounting for 3% of the variance in academic grades,  $\beta = .03$ , F = 9.47, p < .001. The relationship between mother values and school engagement tested on the second step of the mediation analysis was statistically significant,  $\beta = .03$ , F = 9.46, p < .001. The third step of the mediation analysis tested the relationship between school engagement and academic grades. The results of this analysis were statistically significant,  $\beta = .10$ , F = 36.83, p < .001. After holding school engagement constant on the fourth step of the mediation analysis, the relationship between mother values and academic grades decreased from .03 (Step 1) to .01 (Step 2), although the analysis remained statistically significant,  $\beta = .01$ , F = 21.12, p = .026. To determine if a mediator variable significantly carries the influence of a predictor variable to a criterion variable (i.e., if the indirect effect of the predictor variable on the dependent variable through the mediator variable is significant). Sobel's test was performed. The obtained test statistic of 2.73 (p = .003) was statistically significant. This finding provided support that student engagement was partially mediating the relationship between mother values and academic grades.



School engagement was used as the mediating variable in a mediation analysis. The predictor variable was father values, with academic grades used as the criterion variable. Table 16 presents results of this analysis.

#### Table 16

Mediation Analysis: Mediating Role of School Engagement on the Relation between Father Values and Academic Grades

Predictor	Criterion	$R^2$	F	Standardized $\beta$
Step 1 Father values	Academic grades	.03	9.07	.16**
<u>Step 2</u> Father values	School engagement	.01	5.40	.13*
<u>Step 3</u> School engagement	Academic grades	.10	36.83	.32**
<u>Step 4</u> School engagement Father values	Academic grades	.10 .02	36.83 21.56	.32** .13*
Sobel's test = 2.16. p = .015				

\*p < .05; \*\*p < .01

On the first step of the mediation analysis, the relationship between father values and academic grades was statistically significant,  $\beta = .03$ , F = 9.07, p < .001. The results of the relationship between father values and school engagement, tested on the second step of the mediation analysis, was statistically significant,  $\beta = .01$ , F = 5.40, p = .021. On the third step of the mediation analysis, the relationship between school engagement and academic grades was statistically significant,  $\beta = .10$ , F = 36.83, p < .001. After holding the mediating variable, school engagement, constant on the fourth step of the mediation analysis, the relationship between father values and academic grades decreased from .03 (Step 1) to .02 (Step 2),  $\beta = .13$ , F = 21.56, p < .01. Sobel's test was used to determine if a mediator variable significantly carries the influence of a predictor variable to a criterion variable (i.e., if the indirect effect of the predictor



variable on the dependent variable through the mediator variable is significant). The obtained test statistic of 2.16 (p = .015) was statistically significant. This finding provided support that student engagement was partially mediating the relationship between father values and academic grades.

A mediation analysis was used to determine if school engagement was mediating the relationship between mother's interest in schoolwork and academic grades. Table 17 presents results of this analysis.

## Table 17

Mediation Analysis: Mediating Role of School Engagement on the Relation between Mother Interest in Schoolwork and Academic Grades

Predictor	Criterion	$R^2$	F	Standardized $\beta$
Step 1 Mother's interest in schoolwork	Academic grades	<.01	.43	.04NS
*p < .05; **p < .01				

The first step of the mediation analysis tested the relationship between mother's interest in schoolwork and academic grades. The results of this analysis were not statistically significant,  $\beta = .04$ , F = .43, p < .05. Based on the nonsignificant results on this step, the mediation analysis could not be continued.

Father interest in schoolwork was used as the predictor variable in a mediation analysis. Academic grades was used as the criterion variable, with school engagement used as the mediating variable. Table 18 presents results of this analysis.



Mediation Analysis: Mediating Role of School Engagement on the Relation between Father Interest in Schoolwork and Academic Grades

Predictor	Criterion	$R^2$	F	Standardized $\beta$
<u>Step 1</u> Father's interest in schoolwork	Academic grades	<.01	.03	.01NS
* < 05. **- < 01				

\**p* < .05; \*\**p* < .01

On the first step of the mediation analysis, the relationship between father's interest in school work and academic grades was tested. The results of this analysis were not statistically significant,  $\beta = .01$ , F = .03, p < .05. Based on this result, the mediation analysis could not be continued.

Mother involvement in school was used as the predictor variable in a mediation analysis, with academic grades used as the criterion variable. School engagement was used as the mediating variable in this analysis. Table 19 presents results of this analysis.

#### Table 19

Mediation Analysis: Mediating Role of School Engagement on the Relation between Mother Involvement in School and Academic Grades

Predictor	Criterion	$R^2$	F	Standardized $\beta$
Step 1 Mother involvement in school	Academic grades	.01	3.26	.10NS
* <i>p</i> < .05; ** <i>p</i> < .01				

One percent of the variance in academic grades was accounted for by mother involvement in school,  $\beta = .10$ , F = 3.26, p > .05. Because the relationship between mother involvement in school and academic grades tested on the first step, the mediation analysis could not be continued.



A mediation analysis was used to determine if school engagement was mediating the relationship between father involvement in school and academic grades. Table 20 presents results of this analysis.

#### Table 20

Mediation Analysis: Mediating Role of School Engagement on the Relation between Father Involvement in School and Academic Grades

Predictor	Criterion	$R^2$	F	Standardized $\beta$
Step 1 Father involvement in school	Academic grades	<.01	.45	.04NS
* <i>p</i> < .05; ** <i>p</i> < .01				

The relationship between father involvement in school and academic grades was tested on the first step of the mediation analysis. The results of this analysis were not statistically significant,  $\beta = .04$ , F = .45, p > .05. Based on the nonsignificant finding on the first step, the mediation analysis could not be continued.

**Research Question 2**: Does adolescents' school engagement mediate the relationship between teacher behaviors and self-reported academic grades?

H<sub>2</sub>: Adolescents' school engagement will mediate the relationship between variations in teacher behaviors and variations in self-reported academic grades.

Ho<sub>2</sub>: Adolescents' school engagement will not mediate the relationship between variations in teacher behaviors and variations in self-reported academic grades.

Two mediation analyses were used to test this hypothesis. The first analysis used perceived teacher caring as the predictor variable and self-reported academic grades as the criterion variable. School engagement was used as the mediating variable in this analysis. Table 21 presents this analysis.



Mediation Analysis.	: Mediating	Role of	School	Engagement	on	the	Relation	between	Perceived
Teacher Caring and	l Academic (	Grades							

Predictor	Criterion	$R^2$	F	Standardized $\beta$
Step 1 Perceived teacher caring	Academic grades	.06	20.45	.24**
<u>Step 2</u> Perceived teacher caring	School engagement	.09	31.06	.29**
<u>Step 3</u> School engagement	Academic grades	.10	36.83	.32**
<u>Step 4</u> School engagement Perceived teacher caring	Academic grades	.10 .02	36.83 23.41	.32** .16**
Sobel's test = 4.07, p = .015				

\*p < .05; \*\*p < .01

On the first step of the mediation analysis, perceived teacher caring was accounting for 6% of the variance in academic grades,  $\beta = .24$ , F = 20.45, p < .01. The relationship between perceived teacher caring and academic grades, tested on the second step of the mediation analysis was statistically significant, explaining 9% of the variance in academic grades,  $\beta = .29$ , F = 31.06, p < .01. On the third step of the mediation analysis, school engagement was accounting for 10% of the variance in academic grades,  $\beta = .32$ , F = 36.83, p < .01. After holding the mediating variable, school engagement, constant on the fourth step of the mediation analysis, the relationship between perceived teacher caring and academic grades decreased from .06 (Step 1) to .02 (Step 2),  $\beta = .16$ , F = 23.41, p < .01. To determine if the mediation variable was carrying a statistically significant influence of a predictor variable to a criterion variable, (i.e., if the indirect effect of the predictor variable on the dependent variable through the mediator variable is significant). Sobel's test was used. The obtained test statistic of 4.07 (p = .015) was statistically significant, providing support that student engagement was partially mediating the relationship between perceived teacher caring and academic grades.



The second mediation analysis used academic press as the predictor variable and selfreported academic grades as the criterion variable. School engagement was used as the mediating variable. Table 22 presents results of this analysis.

#### Table 22

Mediation Analysis: Mediating Role of School Engagement on the Relation between Academic Press and Academic Grades

Predictor	Criterion	$R^2$	F	Standardized $\beta$
Step 1 Academic press	Academic grades	>.01	.86	05ns
* <i>p</i> < .05; ** <i>p</i> < .01				

The relationship between academic press and self-reported academic grades was tested on the first step of the mediation analysis. The results of this analysis were not statistically significant,  $\beta = -.05$ , F = .86, p > 0.05. Because of the lack of a statistically significant relationship on the first step, the mediation analysis could not be continued.

**Research Question 3:** Does an adolescent's school engagement in school mediate the relationship between peer influence and self-reported academic grades?

H<sub>3</sub>: School engagement will mediate the relationship between variations in peer influence and variations in academic grades.

Ho<sub>3</sub>: School engagement will not mediate the relationship between variations in peer influence and variations in academic grades.

Two mediation analyses were used to test this hypothesis. The first analysis used school engagement as the mediating variable and conventional involvement as the predictor variable. Self-reported academic grades were used as the criterion variable in this analysis. Table 23 presents results of this analysis.



Mediation Analysis: Mediating Role of School Engagement on the Relation between Conventional Involvement and Academic Grades

Predictor	Criterion	$R^2$	F	Standardized $\beta$
Step 1 Conventional involvement	Academic grades	.03	10.38	.18**
<u>Step 2</u> Conventional involvement	School engagement	.10	37.14	.32**
<u>Step 3</u> School engagement	Academic grades	.10	36.83	.32**
<u>Step 4</u> School engagement Conventional involvement	Academic grades	.10 .01	36.83 19.60	.32** .08ns

\*p < .05; \*\*p < .01

On the first step of the mediation analysis, conventional involvement accounted for 3% of the variance in academic grades,  $\beta = .18$ , F = 10.38, p < .01. The relationship between conventional involvement and school engagement, tested on the second step of the mediation analysis, was statistically significant,  $\beta = .32$ , F = 37.14, p < .01. School engagement was explaining 10% of the variance in self-reported academic grades on the third step of the mediation analysis,  $\beta = .10$ , F = 36.83, p < .01. On the fourth step of the mediation analysis, after holding school engagement constant, the amount of variance in self-reported academic grades that was explained by conventional involvement decreased from .03 (Step 1) to .01 (Step 4),  $\beta = .08$ , F = 19.60, p < .01. While the overall analysis was statistically significant, conventional involvement was not a statistically significant predictor of self-reported academic grades. As a result, it appears that school engagement is mediating the relationship between conventional involvement and self-reported academic grades.

The second mediation analysis used to test this hypothesis used peer trouble as the predictor variable and self-reported academic grades as the criterion variable. School


engagement was used in this analysis as the mediating variable. Table 24 presents results of this analysis.

### Table 24

Mediation Analysis: Mediating Role of School Engagement on the Relation between Peer Trouble and Academic Grades

Predictor	Criterion	$R^2$	F	Standardized $\beta$
<u>Step 1</u> Peer trouble	Academic grades	.01	2.99	10ns
* <i>p</i> < .05; ** <i>p</i> < .01				

The relationship between peer trouble and academic grades was tested on the first step of the mediation analysis. One percent of the variance in academic grades was accounted for by peer trouble,  $\beta = .01$ , F = 2.99, p > .05. Because of the nonsignificant finding on the first step, the mediation analysis could not be continued.

**Research Question 4**: Does adolescents' school engagement in school mediate the relationship between academic self-efficacy and grades?

H<sub>4</sub>: School engagement will mediate the relationship between academic self-efficacy and academic grades.

Ho<sub>4</sub>: School engagement will not mediate the relationship between academic self-efficacy and academic grades.

Students' scores for academic self-efficacy were used as the predictor variable in a mediation analysis and self-reported academic grades were used as the criterion variable in a mediation analysis. School engagement was used as the mediating variable in this analysis. Table 25 presents results of this analysis.



## Table 25

Mediation Analysis: M	Mediating Role	of School	Engagement	on the	Relation	between	Academic
Self-efficacy and Acad	lemic Grades						

Predictor	Criterion	$R^2$	F	Standardized $\beta$
Step 1 Academic self-efficacy	Academic grades	.12	43.04	.35**
<u>Step 2</u> Academic self-efficacy	School engagement	.20	81.19	.44**
<u>Step 3</u> School engagement	Academic grades	.10	36.83	.32**
<u>Step 4</u> School engagement Academic self-efficacy	Academic grades	.10 .05	36.83 30.15	.20** .26**
Sobel's test = 4.94, p < .001				

\**p* < .05; \*\**p* < .01

On the first step of the mediation analysis, academic self-efficacy was accounting for 12% of the variance in self-reported academic grades,  $\beta = .35$ , F = 43.04, p < .01. Academic self-efficacy was explaining 20% of the variance in school engagement on the second step of the mediation analysis,  $\beta = .44$ , F = 81.19, p < .01. On the third step of the analysis, school engagement was accounting for 10% of the variance in self-reported academic graces,  $\beta = .10$ , F = 36.83, p < .01. After holding school engagement constant on the fourth step of the mediation analysis, the amount of variance in self-reported academic grades that was explained by academic self-efficacy decreased from .12 (Step 1) to .05 (Step 4). To determine if the mediation variable was carrying a statistically significant influence of a predictor variable to a criterion variable, (i.e., if the indirect effect of the predictor variable on the dependent variable through the mediator variable is significant, providing support that student engagement was partially mediating the relationship between academic self-efficacy and academic grades.



## **Ancillary Findings**

Three stepwise multiple linear regression analyses were used to determine which of the predictor variables could be used to predict or explain three criterion variables: academic grades, school engagement, and academic self-efficacy. Using the correlation matrix (See Table 10), the predictor variables that were significantly related to each of the criterion variables were used in these analyses. Table 26 presents the results of the stepwise multiple linear regression analysis using self-reported academic grades as the criterion variable, and mother responsiveness, mother values, father values, perceived teacher caring, and conventional involvement as predictor variables.

#### Table 26

المنسارات

Stepwise Multiple Linear Regression Analysis: Self-Reported Academic Grades

Predictor Variable	Constant	b-Weight	$\beta$ -Weight	$\Delta r^2$	<i>t</i> -Value	Sig
Included Variables						
Perceived teacher caring	2.65	.58	.20	.06	3.61	<.001
Mother values		.40	.13	.02	2.39	.017
Conventional involvement		.50	.13	.01	2.32	.021
Excluded Variables						
Mother responsiveness			.10		1.73	.085
Father values			.07		1.27	.204
Multiple <i>R</i> .30						
Multiple $R^2$ .09						
<i>F</i> Ratio 10.89						
DF 3, 328						
Sig <.001						

Three predictor variables, perceived teacher caring, mother values, and conventional involvement entered the stepwise multiple linear regression equation, accounting for 9% of the variance in self-reported academic grades, F(3, 328) = 10.89, p < .001. Perceived teacher caring entered the stepwise multiple linear regression equation first explaining 6% of the variance in



academic grades,  $\beta = .20$ ,  $r^2 = .06$ , t = 3.61, p < .001. Mother values entered the stepwise multiple linear regression equation, accounting for an additional 2% of the variance in selfreported academic grades,  $\beta = .13$ ,  $r^2 = .02$ , t = 2.39, p = .017. Conventional involvement added 1% to the amount of explained variance,  $\beta = .13$ ,  $r^2 = .01$ , t = 2.32, p = .021. Each of the three predictor variables was related to self-reported academic grades in a positive direction, indicating that higher academic grades were associated with greater perceived teacher caring, mother values, and conventional involvement. The remaining predictor variables did not enter the stepwise multiple linear regression equation, indicating they were not statistically significant predictors of self-reported academic grades.

The second stepwise multiple linear regression analysis used school engagement as the criterion variable, with mother responsiveness, father responsiveness, mother values, father values, mother interest in school work, father interest in schoolwork, perceived teacher caring, academic press, conventional involvement, and peer trouble used as the predictor variables. Table 27 presents results of this analysis.



### Table 27

Predictor Variable	Constant	b-Weight	$\beta$ -Weight	$\Delta r^2$	<i>t</i> -Value	Sig
Included Variables						
Peer trouble	17.80	-1.89	25	.11	-4.99	<.001
Conventional involvement		2.24	.22	.07	4.42	<.001
Perceived teacher caring		1.33	.18	.04	3.49	.001
Mother responsiveness		.89	.11	.01	2.12	.035
Excluded Variables						
Father responsiveness			01		12	.904
Mother values			.06		1.19	.233
Father values			.04		.71	.476
Mother interest in schoolwork			.05		.85	.394
Father interest in schoolwork			.03		.52	.602
Academic press			.09		1.86	.064
Multiple <i>R</i> .48						
Multiple $R^2$ .23						
<i>F</i> Ratio 24.09						
DF 4, 327						
Sig <.001						

Stepwise Multiple Linear Regression Analysis: School Engagement

Twenty-three percent of the variance in school engagement was explained by four predictor variables, peer trouble, conventional involvement, perceived teacher caring, and mother responsiveness, F(4, 327) = 24.09, p < .001. Peer trouble entered the stepwise multiple linear regression equation first, accounting for 11% of the variance in school engagement,  $\beta = -.25$ ,  $r^2 = .11$ , t = -4.99, p < .001. The negative relationship between school engagement and peer trouble indicated that students who had higher scores for school engagement were less likely to be involved with peers who are involved in troublesome behaviors. Conventional involvement entered the stepwise multiple linear regression equation next, explaining 7% of the variance in school engagement,  $\beta = .22$ ,  $r^2 = .07$ , t = 4.42, p < 001. Perceived teacher caring entered the stepwise multiple linear regression equation, accounting for an additional 4% of the variance in school engagement,  $\beta = .18$ ,  $r^2 = .04$ , t = 3.49, p = .001. One percent of the variance in school engagement was explained by mother responsiveness,  $\beta = .11$ ,  $r^2 = .01$ , t = 2.12, p = .035. The



65

positive relationships between school engagement and conventional involvement, perceived teacher caring, and mother responsiveness indicated that students who had higher levels of school engagement were more likely to have higher scores for conventional involvement, perceived teacher caring, and mother responsiveness. The remaining predictor variables did not enter the stepwise multiple linear regression equation, indicating that father responsiveness, mother values, father values, mother interest in schoolwork, father interest in schoolwork, and academic press were not statistically significant predictors of school engagement.

The third stepwise multiple linear regression analysis used academic self-efficacy as the criterion variable. The predictor variables in this analysis included mother responsiveness, father responsiveness, mother values, father values, mother interest in schoolwork, father interest in schoolwork, perceived teacher caring, academic press, conventional involvement, and peer trouble. Table 28 presents results of this analysis.



### Table 28

Predictor Variable	Constant	b-Weight	$\beta$ -Weight	$\Delta r^2$	<i>t</i> -Value	Sig
Included Variables						
Conventional involvement	11.04	6.32	.30	.13	5.87	<.001
Perceived teacher caring		3.82	.17	.03	3.42	.001
Mother values		4.30	.15	.02	2.99	.003
Excluded Variables						
Mother responsiveness			.08		1.54	.124
Father responsiveness			.07		1.32	.188
Father values			.08		1.45	.148
Mother interest in schoolwork			.03		.44	.662
Father interest in schoolwork			.03		.58	.564
Academic press			.06		1.21	.227
Peer trouble			10		-1.94	.053
Multiple <i>R</i> .43						
Multiple $R^2$ .18						
<i>F</i> Ratio 24.59						
DF 3, 328						
Sig <.001						

67

Stepwise Multiple Linear Regression Analysis: Academic Self-Efficacy

Three predictor variables, conventional involvement, perceived teacher caring, and mother values, entered the stepwise multiple linear regression equation, accounting for 18% of the variance in academic self-efficacy, F (3,328) = 24.59, p < .001. Conventional involvement entered the stepwise multiple linear regression equation first, accounting for 13% of the variance in academic self-efficacy,  $\beta = .30$ ,  $r^2 = .13$ , t = 5.87, p < 001. An additional 3% of the variance in academic self-efficacy was accounted for by perceived teacher caring,  $\beta = .17$ ,  $r^2 = .03$ , t = 3.42, p = .001. Mother values entered the stepwise multiple linear regression equation, explaining 2% of the variance in academic self-efficacy,  $\beta = .15$ ,  $r^2 = .02$ , t = 2.99, p = .003. The positive relationships between academic self-efficacy and conventional involvement, perceived teacher caring, and mother values indicated that students with higher levels of academic self-efficacy tended to have higher scores for conventional involvement, perceived teacher caring, and mother values. The remaining predictor variables, mother responsiveness, father responsiveness, father



values, mother interest in schoolwork, father interest in schoolwork, academic press, and peer trouble, did not enter the stepwise multiple linear regression equation, indicating they were not statistically significant predictors of academic self-efficacy.

# Summary

Chapter 4 has presented the results of the statistical analyses that were used to describe the sample and answer the research questions. The conclusions and recommendations based on these findings can be found in Chapter 5.



### **CHAPTER 5**

### DISCUSSION

The goal of the present study was to determine if school engagement had a mediating influence on the relationships between variables associated with an adolescent's contextual environment and academic performance in school. Specifically, this study investigated the extent to which school engagement mediated the effects that known academic performance influencing variables (e.g., perceived parental behaviors, perceived teacher behaviors, perceived peer behaviors, and academic self-efficacy) had on an adolescent's self-reported grades.

Though research has identified variables that are significantly correlated with an adolescent's self-reported grades, the model for this study suggested that an adolescent's academic performance in school (e.g., self-reported grades) follows an indirect route. Specifically, this study hypothesized that school engagement was a mediator between mother demandingness, father demandingness, mother responsiveness, father responsiveness, mother values towards education, father values towards education, mother involvement in school, father involvement in school, mother interest in schoolwork, father interest in schoolwork, teacher caring, teacher academic expectations, peer adaptive behaviors, peer troublesome behaviors, and academic self-efficacy on an adolescent's self-reported grades. Furthermore, this study was also to determine the most important variable that can predict academic grades, school engagement, and academic self-efficacy, respectively.

## **Description of the Participants**

A total of 332 high school students participated in the study. Of this number, 159 (49.2%) were male and 164 (50.8%) were female. The average age of the students was 16.5 years. Most students (n = 155, 47.0%) reported their ethnicity as Caucasian, with 63 (19.1%) indicating they



were of Middle Eastern descent. Fifty (15.2%) African Americans, 32 (9.7%) Asian/Pacific Islanders, 3 (0.9%) Hispanics, 5 (1.5%) multi-ethnic, and 22 (6.6%) students participated in the study. The students were in the ninth (n = 78, 23.8%), tenth (n = 23, 7.0%), eleventh (n = 36, 11.0%) and twelfth grades (n = 191, 58.2%). The students self-reported their overall grades in school.

The greatest number of students were living with two caregivers (e.g. mother/mother-like figure, father/father-like figure) at home (n = 259, 78.5%), followed by students who were living with only one caregiver (n = 71, 21.5%). Most students reported that both their mother/mother-like figure (218, 71.5%) and father/father-like figure (255, 86.7%) were employed. Eighty-seven (28.5%) reported that their mother/mother-like figure was unemployed and 39 (13.3%) indicated their father/father-like figure was unemployed. Results also showed that most of the mother/mother-like figures had completed high school (101, 31.1%) with 96 (29.5%) having completed some college and 86 (26.5%) being college graduates. Twenty-nine (8.9%) of mother/mother-like figures were reported to have a middle-school education, 6 (1.8%) an elementary school education, and 7 (2.2%) had no education at all. Father/father-like figures showed a similar pattern in educational attainment. Most were high school graduates (112, 35.8%), 70 (22.3%) had some college education, 89 (28.3%) graduated from college, 27 (8.6%) had a middle school education, 8 (2.5%) had only been to elementary school, while 8 (2.5%) had never been to school.

## **Research Questions and Hypotheses**

Four research questions and associated hypotheses were developed for the study. Each of these questions was addressed using inferential statistical analyses, with all decisions on the statistical significance made using a criterion alpha level of .05.



**Research question 1:** Does an adolescent's academic engagement in school mediate the relationship between parental behaviors and grades?

H<sub>1</sub>: Adolescents' school engagement will mediate the relationship between variations in parental behaviors and variations in self-reported grades.

Ho<sub>1</sub>: Adolescents' school engagement will not mediate the relationship between variations in parental behaviors and variations in self-reported grades.

A mediation analysis was used to determine if school engagement was mediating the relationship between parental behaviors and self-reported academic grades. Results indicated that mother demandingness and father demandingness were not significantly related to academic grades. Therefore, mediational analyses could not be completed based on the criteria set forth by Baron and Kenny (1986). This also was true for father responsiveness, mother's interest in schoolwork, father's interest in schoolwork, mother's involvement in school, and father's involvement in school. The non-significant findings mentioned above are not consistent with previous research. This may be due to external validity issues of the previous research which impedes generalizability to the sample in this study. However, school engagement was found to be partially mediating the relationship between mother responsiveness, mother values towards education, and father's values towards education, respectively, on academic grades.

The majority of students were living in two-parent households with both parents employed. The educational levels of the parents generally were high school graduates and some college. These factors may have played a part in the results of the first hypotheses regarding parent behaviors. Parents who are working and have responsibilities associated with raising a family may not have time to be fully involved in their children's schools. However, they may have instilled their value systems into their children which accounts for school engagement



partially mediating the relationships between both mother and father values with self-reported academic achievement. Research has found that adolescents' school performance is directly related to their parent's values and expectations (Jodl, Michael, Malanchuk, Eccles, & Sameroff, 2001). Parents who encourage success in school set higher standards for their child's school performance and homework. They also have higher aspirations for their child. This has been found to contribute to school success (Luthar et. al., 2006). Parents who encourage success in school also hold values that are consistent with doing well in school, and they exhibit this by structuring their home environment to support the messages that children receive from their teachers (Benner Graham, & Mistry, 2008). Furthermore, it was found that more fathers than mothers were employed in this study, implying that these fathers are away from home and may not be accessible to the adolescents. These factors may explain why school engagement partially mediated the relationship between mother responsiveness and self-reported academic achievement but did not with respect to father responsiveness and self-reported academic achievement. Thus, more mothers are available to respond adaptively to the adolescent and encourage good student outcomes to the adolescent.

**Research question 2:** Does an adolescent's academic engagement in school mediate the relationship between teacher behaviors and grades?

H<sub>2</sub>: Adolescents' school engagement will mediate the relationship between variations in teacher behaviors and variations in self-reported academic grades.

Ho<sub>2</sub>: Adolescents' school engagement will not mediate the relationship between variations in teacher behaviors and variations in self-reported academic grades.

A mediation analysis was used to determine if school engagement was mediating the relationship between teacher behaviors and self-reported academic grades. Results showed that



the relationship between academic press (teacher expectations) and academic grades were not statistically significant. Therefore, the mediational analysis could not be completed based on the criteria set forth by Baron and Kenny (1986). However, the mediational analysis performed on perceived teacher caring and academic grades found school engagement to be partially mediating this relationship.

The majority of students were in the 12th grade. Older adolescents tend to seek greater autonomy from authority figures, but still value their opinions (Steinberg, 2014). This factor may have played a part in the results of the second hypotheses regarding teaching behaviors. Older adolescents may not want to feel like they are obligated to follow the instructions of a superior. Instead, it is possible that these adolescents value the teacher as a responsive and caring facilitator which may account for school engagement partially mediating the relationship between teacher caring with self-reported academic achievement.

**Research question 3:** Does an adolescent's academic engagement in school mediate the relationship between peer influence and grades?

H<sub>3</sub>: School engagement will mediate the relationship between variations in peer influence and variations in academic grades.

Ho<sub>3</sub>: School engagement will not mediate the relationship between variations in peer influence and variations in academic grades.

A mediation analysis was used to determine if school engagement was mediating the relationship between peer behaviors and self-reported academic grades. Results showed that the relationship between peer troublesome behaviors and academic grades were not statistically significant. Therefore, the mediational analysis could not be completed based on the criteria set forth by Baron and Kenny (1986). However, the mediational analysis performed on peer



conventional involvement and academic grades found school engagement to be fully mediating this relationship.

A possible explanation to these findings may be that peers feel that they can relate to each other. Generally, they are in the same grade and of the same age. Therefore, they are going through similar experiences and challenges in school. An adolescent who has friends who engage in adaptive, prosocial/pro-educational behaviors is more likely to want to be in school and do well in school as well. The situation is vice versa for adolescents with friends who engage in maladaptive, antisocial/anti-educational behaviors. Recent research supports this explanation (Lynch, Lerner, & Leventhal, 2013). However, it is possible that external validity issues of the previous research may have influenced complete generalizability to the present study. This may explain the non-significant relationship between peer troublesome behaviors and academic grades and why school engagement mediated the relationship between peer conventional involvement and academic grades.

**Research question 4:** Does an adolescent's academic engagement in school mediate the relationship between academic self-efficacy and grades?

H<sub>4</sub>: Variations in academic self-efficacy will significantly account for variations in grades when school engagement is a mediator.

Ho<sub>4</sub>: Variations in academic self-efficacy will NOT significantly account for variations in grades when school engagement is a mediator.

A mediation analysis was used to determine if school engagement was mediating the relationship between academic self-efficacy and self-reported academic grades. Results showed that the relationship between academic self-efficacy and academic grades was statistically significant. This is consistent with previous research (Bong, 2008). Efficacy beliefs relate to the



internal, psychological beliefs of an individual. Those with high efficacy beliefs believe they can execute a course of action. In this case, the type of efficacy is academic. High academic self-efficacy is likely to increase an individual's engagement in school possibly due to the individual believing he or she can do it. Once engaged in school, an adolescent is likely to earn good grades because of the effort put forth (Williams & Williams, 2010). This may explain why school engagement partially mediated the relationship between academic self-efficacy and grades.

## **Ancillary Findings**

Three stepwise multiple linear regression analyses were used to determine which of the predictor variables could be used to predict or explain three criterion variables: academic grades, school engagement, and academic self-efficacy. Using the correlation matrix (See Table 10), the predictor variables that were significantly related to each of the criterion variables were used in these analyses.

**Self-Reported Academic Grades.** Perceived teacher caring contributed the most towards self-reported academic grades. Although it accounted for only 6% of the variance, this variable is the most significant variable in predicting self-reported academic grades for students in this study. This finding is in agreement with previous research. In a sample of 131 high school students Miller (2010) found that teacher caring had a statistically significant relationship with academic grades as well.

School Engagement. Peer influence contributed the most towards school engagement. Peer trouble accounted for most of the variance in a negative direction. The negative relationship between school engagement and peer trouble indicated that students who had higher scores for school engagement were less likely to be involved with peers who are involved in troublesome behaviors. Conventional involvement followed peer troublesome behaviors in statistical



significance with school engagement. This relationship was in a positive direction which indicates that students who had higher scores for being with good friends also were more likely to have good grades. In a longitudinal study of 1,718 students Lynch, Lerner, and Leventhal (2013) found that both positive and negative peer behaviors had significant relationships with their respective positive and negative outcomes on school engagement.

Academic Self-Efficacy. Peer conventional involvement was the most important variable that contributed towards academic self-efficacy in this study. It accounted for 13% of the variance. This suggests that having friends who are engaging in adaptive behaviors is likely to have a positive effect on an adolescent in the way of promoting higher efficacy beliefs for learning. Kiran-Esen (2012) found similar results. In a sample of 546 high school students the researcher found that peer influence was significantly related to academic self-efficacy.

### Conclusion

The findings of the present study suggested that adolescents whose parents exhibited a responsive, caring attitude towards their adolescent and his or her education were more engaged in school, had higher academic self-efficacy, had better friends, and subsequently better grades. This parental behavior may transfer to the teacher successfully being able to enforce structure in the classroom to engage students because of the parents' adaptive behaviors and attitudes towards their children. Students in this study accepted the teachers' authority due to the parents instilling the value and importance of an education into the student.

Triadic reciprocal determinism states that there are multiple influences on how a person acts in any given situation. In this respect the learning context is composed of the environment (e.g., parents, teachers, and peers), the psychological characteristics of the person (e.g., efficacy beliefs), and the individual's behavior (e.g., school engagement and grades). All three of these



factors interact with each other and are interdependent (Bandura, 1986, 1997). Therefore, it is simplistic and erroneous to attribute the academic success or failure of an adolescent to a specific factor. It is more appropriate to understand the mentioned phenomenon as a complex, reciprocal interaction between numerous factors.

## **Implications and Recommendations**

The findings of the current study have made it evident that multiple factors in the adolescent's life, such as parents, teachers, peers, and personal beliefs about the possibility of success, contribute to student engagement in school and subsequent academic performance. The most important contributors to academic grades were perceived teacher caring, mother values, and conventional involvement. The greatest influences on school engagement were peer trouble, conventional involvement, perceived teacher caring, and mother responsiveness. Academic self-efficacy was most significantly influenced by conventional involvement, perceived teacher caring and mother responsiveness. Academic self-efficacy was most significantly influenced by conventional involvement, perceived teacher caring and mother responsiveness. Academic self-efficacy was most significantly influenced by conventional involvement, perceived teacher caring and mother responsiveness. Academic self-efficacy was most significantly influenced by conventional involvement, perceived teacher caring and mother responsiveness. Academic self-efficacy was most significantly influenced by conventional involvement, perceived teacher caring and mother responsiveness.

Several suggestions for educators and parents were derived from the findings of the present study. When identifying interventions for adolescent success, parenting behaviors, teacher behaviors, and peer influence should be considered. Parents need to exhibit a genuine interest in the well-being of their adolescent, along with engaging in a noncoercive effort to instill adaptive values related to education. This type of parenting includes providing the structure to assist the adolescent in meeting his or her academic expectations. Parents also need to be actively involved in their child's social life.

Teachers need to work on engaging students more proactively by communicating high expectations for all students and be firm in their expectations that all students perform at their



highest level in their classes. This includes promoting students' self-efficacy for learning with the understanding that failure provides an opportunity to learn as well. It is also important that teachers are sensitive to their students' needs. If a student believes that his or her teacher cares about him or her, it is more likely that the student will approach the teacher when the need arises. Teachers should also attempt to foster adaptive learning relationships between students through tasks such as groupwork that requires students to collaborate on projects after school. This may help the teacher's students develop quality friendships. Parents and teachers who work collaboratively together can help adolescents become effective students and become fully engaged in school.

# Limitations and Recommendations for Further Research

Several limitations of this study require discussion. First, while every effort was made by the researcher to ensure confidentiality, students completed the surveys at desks or tables in full classrooms. The students were fully aware that they were in a research study. This limitation may have influenced the adolescent's ability to self-disclose completely and be totally honest. This would in turn give us an inaccurate result of the actual situation. Campbell and Stanley state that this situation presents a threat to external validity, which is the generalizability of the study, due to the reactive effects of experimental arrangements (as cited in Kerlinger & Lee, 2000, pp. 477-478). Consequently, the findings should be interpreted with this limitation in mind.

This study could be replicated by having students complete a computer-based survey. They would be completing the survey separately and would not be able to discuss their responses with other students. The students, in using a computer, may feel their responses would be anonymous and provide answers that reflect their true feelings.



Second, the data were collected from a single, public, suburban high school in the Midwestern United States using a convenience sample. This limitation does not allow generalization to other types of schools that may vary in size, geographic location (urban or rural), and affiliation (private or public). Campbell and Stanley posit this as a threat to external validity due to selection bias (as cited in Kerlinger & Lee, 2000, p. 477). Future research could focus on collecting data from adolescents in several different types of high schools. Related to this was the fact that 19% of the sample was of Middle Eastern descent, which may not be generalizable to the broader population in the United States.

Third, this study used self-report measures as the method of data collection. No other method of data collection was used. It is possible that the measures used in this study didn't accurately reflect the constructs in the study. For example, the reliability coefficient of the Perceived Teacher Caring scale in this study was .57. There were also seven instruments that students had to complete. It is possible that some of the students in this study may have been felt fatigued while proceeding to complete the later measures in their packet. This may have influenced the accurate completion of each instrument. The low reliability of instruments and fatigue related to instrument completion are threats to the internal validity of this study known as instrumentation (Kerlinger & Lee, 2000). Furthermore, future researchers may want to obtain matched samples of parents' and/or teachers' perceptions along with the students' own perceptions in the effort of having a more comprehensive set of findings.

Finally, the ancillary findings suggest that there are other variables not included in this study that contribute towards academic grades, school engagement, and academic self-efficacy. This is evident due to the predictor variables in this study accounting for such a small portion of the variance in relation to these criterion variables, respectively. Future research may investigate



other predictor variables to find which one or more explains most of the variance of the criterion variables in this study.



# **APPENDIX A**

## **SURVEYS**

# Demographic Questionnaire

Please circle what grade you are currently in: 9 10 11 12

Please circle your gender: Male Female

Please indicate your age: \_\_\_\_\_

Please circle the grade you most often get in school:

A A-/B+ B+/B B/B- B-/C+ C+/C C/C- C-/D+ D+/D D/D- E

Please circle/indicate your ethnicity:

Caucasian Middle Eastern African-American Asian Hispanic Multiethnic Other:\_\_\_\_\_

Please circle the number of parents or parent-like figures you have at home:

1 2

Please circle the employment status of your parents/parent-like figures:

Mother: Employed Unemployed Father: Employed Unemployed

Please circle the amount of schooling your parents/parent-like figures have completed:

Mother:	Father:
None	None
Elementary School	Elementary School
Middle School	Middle School
High School	High School
Some College	Some College
Graduated College	Graduated College



# School Engagement Questionnaire

Please answer the following 4 questions about your MATH classes. Circle your response.

1.) How much time do you put into homework each week, including reading assignments?

1 = None
2 = About 15 Minutes
3 = About 30 Minutes
4 = About an hour
5 = About 2 or 3 hours
6 = About 4 hours or more

2.) How often do you cut (an unexcused absence) each of these classes?

- 1 = Almost everyday
  2 = Once or twice a week
  3 = A few times a month
  4 = A few times a year
  5 = Never cut
- 3.) How often do you really pay attention during each of these classes?

1 =Never 2 = Seldom 3 = Fairly often 4 = Usually 5 = Always

4.) How often does your mind wander in each of these classes?

1 = Always 2 = Usually 3 = Fairly often 4 = Seldom 5 = Never

Please answer the next 4 questions about your ENGLISH classes. Circle your response.

5.) How much time do you put into homework each week, including reading assignments?

1 = None
2 = About 15 Minutes
3 = About 30 Minutes
4 = About an hour
5 = About 2 or 3 hours
6 = About 4 hours or more

6.) How often do you cut (an unexcused absence) each of these classes?

- 1 =Almost everyday
- 2 =Once or twice a week
- 3 = A few times a month
- 4 = A few times a year



5 =Never cut

- 7.) How often do you really pay attention during each of these classes?
- 1 = Never 2 = Seldom 3 = Fairly often 4 = Usually 5 = Always
- 8.) How often does your mind wander in each of these classes?
- 1 = Always 2 = Usually 3 = Fairly often 4 = Seldom 5 = Never



# Self-Efficacy for Learning Form

Using the scale provided, for each item, please indicate how you typically are. There is no right or wrong answer.

Definite Can't De	ly o It	Prob Can'	ably <u>t Do It</u>		Maybe	<u>e</u>	Prob <u>Can</u>	ably Do It	De Ca	efinitely an Do It
0%	10%	20%	30%	40%	50%	60%	70%	80%	90%	100%
1.	When y as clear	you miss a rly as you	a class, car teacher d	n you find id?	another	studen	t who car	n explain	the lect	ure notes
2.	When your c	your teac original no	her's lectu tes before	the next of	comple class?	ex, can	you write	e an effec	tive sur	nmary of
3.	When	a lecture	is especial	ly boring,	can you	ı motiva	ite yourse	elf to keep	o good 1	notes?
4.	When confus	you had sion befor	trouble une the next	nderstand class mee	ing you ting by o	r instru compari	ctor's lec ng notes	ture, can with a cla	you cl assmate	larify the ?
5.	When confus	you have sing, can y	e trouble s ou revise	studying and rewri	your cla te them	ss note	s becaus after ever	e they ar	re incor ?	nplete or
6.	When your n	you are ta otes down	aking a con to just the	urse cove e essentia	ring a h l facts?	ige amo	ount of m	aterial, c	an you	condense
7.	When old on	you are thes sufficie	rying to ur ently well	derstand to remem	a new to ber them	opic, ca 1?	n you ass	sociate ne	w conc	epts with
8.	When experi	another encing dif	student as ficulty, ca	ks you to n you be a	o study an effect	togethe	er for a of a ly partner	course in r?	which	you are
9.	When with y	problems our assign	with frie ments?	nds and p	peers co	nflict w	vith schoo	olwork, c	an you	keep up
10	. When enoug	you feel h to finish	moody or your assig	restless d gned work	uring st x?	udying,	can you	focus yo	ur atten	tion well
11	. When your s	you find tudy time	yourself ge sufficientl	etting incr y to catch	easingly up?	v behind	l in a new	v course,	can you	increase
12	. When longer	you disc than exp	over that ected, can	your hor you chai	nework nge you	assigni r other	nents for priorities	r the sen to have	nester a enough	re much time for



studying?

- \_\_\_\_\_13. When you have trouble recalling an abstract concept, can you think of a good example that will help you remember it on the test?
- \_\_\_\_\_14. When you have to take a test in a school subject you dislike, can you find a way to motivate yourself to earn a good grade?
- \_\_\_\_\_15. When you are feeling depressed about a forthcoming test, can you find a way to motivate yourself to do well?
- \_\_\_\_\_16. When your last test results were poor, can you figure out potential questions before the next test that will improve your score greatly?
- \_\_\_\_\_17. When you are struggling to remember technical details of a concept for a test, can you find a way to associate them together that will ensure recall?
- 18. When you think you did poorly on a test you just finished, can you go back to your notes and locate all the information you had forgotten?
- 19. When you find that you had to "cram" at the last minute for a test, can you begin your test preparation much earlier so you won't need to cram the next time?



# Parenting Style and Parental Involvement Questionnaire

Using the scale below, for each item, pick the number that best describes your: MOTHER or MOTHER-LIKE FIGURE (Demandingness)

1	2	3	4	5
Very Unlike	More Unlike Than Like	Neither Like Nor Unlike	More Like Than Unlike	Very Like

- 1. My mother has rules for me about watching TV.
- 2. I would describe my mother as a strict parent.
- 3. It is okay with my mother if I do not follow certain rules.
- 4. When I do something that is wrong, my mother usually does not punish me.
- 5. I think my mother disciplines me a lot.
- 6. My mother usually wants to know where I am going.
- 7. My mother gives me a lot of freedom.
- 8. My mother makes most of the decisions about what I am allowed to do.
- 9. My mother gives me chores to do around the house routinely.

10. My mother lets me do pretty much what I want without questioning my decisions.

- 11. My mother rarely gives me orders.
- 12. My mother has few rules for me to follow.
- 13. My mother expects me to be home at a certain time after school or in the evening.
- 14. It does not really matter to my mother whether or not I do assigned chores.
- 15. My mother sometimes tells me that her decisions should not be questioned.

Using the scale below, for each item, pick the number that best describes your: FATHER or FATHER-LIKE FIGURE (Demandingness)

1	2	3	4	5
Very Unlike	More Unlike Than Like	Neither Like Nor Unlike	More Like Than Unlike	Very Like

- 1. My father has rules for me about watching TV. \_\_\_\_\_
- 2. I would describe my father as a strict parent.
- 3. It is okay with my father if I do not follow certain rules.
- 4. When I do something that is wrong, my father usually does not punish me.
- 5. I think my father disciplines me a lot.
- 6. My father usually wants to know where I am going.
- 7. My father gives me a lot of freedom.
- 8. My father makes most of the decisions about what I am allowed to do.
- 9. My father gives me chores to do around the house routinely.
- 10. My father lets me do pretty much what I want without questioning my decisions.
- 11. My father rarely gives me orders.



12. My father has few rules for me to follow. 13. My father expects me to be home at a certain time after school or in the evening. 14. It does not really matter to my father whether or not I do assigned chores. 15. My father sometimes tells me that his decisions should not be questioned. Using the scale below, for each item, pick the number that best describes your: MOTHER or MOTHER-LIKE FIGURE (Responsiveness) 5 1 2 3 4 Very Unlike More Unlike Neither Like More Like Very Like Than Like Nor Unlike Than Unlike 1. My mother sometimes criticizes me for what I do. 2. My mother expects me to tell her when I think a rule is unfair. 3. My mother encourages me to look at both sides of an issue. 4. It is hard for my mother to admit that sometimes I know more than she does. 5. My mother does not think that I should help with decisions in our family. 6. My mother encourages me to talk with her about things. 7. My mother does not believe that she should have her own way all the time anymore than she believes I should have mine. 8. My mother would rather I not tell her my troubles. 9. My mother expects me to do what she says without having to tell me why. 10. My mother seldom praises me for doing well. 11. My mother believes I have a right to my own point of view. 12. My mother takes an interest in my activities. 13. My mother encourages me to talk to her honestly. 14. My mother usually tells me the reasons for rules. 15. My mother does not believe I should have a say in making rules. Using the scale below, for each item, pick the number that best describes your: FATHER or FATHER-LIKE FIGURE (Responsiveness) 1 2 3 4 5 Very Unlike More Unlike Neither Like More Like Very Like Than Like Nor Unlike Than Unlike 1. My father sometimes criticizes me for what I do. 2. My father expects me to tell him when I think a rule is unfair. 3. My father encourages me to look at both sides of an issue. 4. It is hard for my father to admit that sometimes I know more than he does. 5. My father does not think that I should help with decisions in our family. 6. My father encourages me to talk with his about things. 7. My father does not believe that he should have his own way all the time anymore than he believes I should have mine.



8. My father would rather I not tell him my troubles.

- 9. My father expects me to do what he says without having to tell me why.
- 10. My father seldom praises me for doing well.
- 11. My father believes I have a right to my own point of view.
- 12. My father takes an interest in my activities.
- 13. My father encourages me to talk to him honestly.
- 14. My father usually tells me the reasons for rules.
- 15. My father does not believe I should have a say in making rules.

Using the scale below, for each item, pick the number that best describes your: MOTHER or MOTHER-LIKE FIGURE (Values toward achievement)

1	2	3	4	5
Very Unlike	More Unlike Than Like	Neither Like Nor Unlike	More Like Than Unlike	Very Like

1. My mother tries to get me to do my best on everything I do.

- 2. My mother thinks that education is a very important part of adolescence.
- 3. My mother usually sets high standards for me to meet.
- 4. My mother thinks I should go to college.
- 5. Hard work is very important to my mother.
- 6. My mother has high aspirations for my future.
- 7. My mother thinks that getting ahead in life is very important.
- 8. My mother does not think I should be concerned about what kind of career I may have.

Using the scale below, for each item, pick the number that best describes your: MOTHER or MOTHER-LIKE FIGURE (Interest in schoolwork)

1	2	3	4	5
Very Unlike	More Unlike Than Like	Neither Like Nor Unlike	More Like Than Unlike	Very Like

- 1. My mother seldom looks at my tests and papers from school.
- 2. It does not really matter to my mother what grades I get.
- 3. My mother thinks homework is a very important part of school.
- 4. When I get poor grades, my mother encourages me to try harder.
- 5. My mother makes sure that I have done my homework.
- 6. My mother usually knows the grades I get. \_\_\_\_
- 7. My mother does not think that she should help me with my homework.
- 8. When I get poor grades, my mother offers help. \_
- 9. When I ask for help with homework, my mother usually gives it to me. \_\_\_\_\_



Using the scale below, for each item, pick the number that best describes your: MOTHER or MOTHER-LIKE FIGURE (Involvement in school functions)

1	2	3	4	5	
Very Unlike	More Unlike Than Like	Neither Like Nor Unlike	More Like Than Unlike	Very Like	
<ol> <li>My mother usual</li> <li>My mother is no</li> <li>My mother some</li> <li>My mother usual</li> <li>My mother usual</li> <li>My mother usual</li> <li>Using the scale bely</li> <li>FATHER or FATH</li> </ol>	lly goes to parent-te t involved in schoo etimes does volunte lly does not go to se lly goes to activities ow, for each item, p IER-LIKE FIGURE	eacher conferences l programs for par- er work at my sche chool functions s in which I am inv pick the number th E (Values toward a	S ents ool volved at school at best describes you chievement)	our:	
1	2	3	4	5	
Very Unlike	More Unlike Than Like	Neither Like Nor Unlike	More Like Than Unlike	Very Like	
<ol> <li>My father tries to get me to do my best on everything I do</li> <li>My father thinks that education is a very important part of adolescence</li> <li>My father usually sets high standards for me to meet</li> <li>My father thinks I should go to college</li> <li>Hard work is very important to my father</li> <li>Hard work is very important to my father</li> <li>My father thinks that getting ahead in life is very important</li> <li>My father does not think I should be concerned about what kind of career I may have</li> </ol>					
FATHER or FATHER-LIKE FIGURE (Interest in schoolwork)					
1	2	3	4	5	
Very Unlike	More Unlike Than Like	Neither Like Nor Unlike	More Like Than Unlike	Very Like	
<ol> <li>My father seldom looks at my tests and papers from school</li> <li>It does not really matter to my father what grades I get</li> <li>My father thinks homework is a very important part of school</li> <li>When I get poor grades, my father encourages me to try harder</li> <li>My father makes sure that I have done my homework</li> <li>My father usually knows the grades I get.</li> </ol>					

7. My father does not think that he should help me with my homework.



8. When I get poor grades, my father offers help. \_\_\_\_

9. When I ask for help with homework, my father usually gives it to me.

Using the scale below, for each item, pick the number that best describes your: FATHER or FATHER-LIKE FIGURE (Involvement in school functions)

1	2	3	4	5
Very Unlike	More Unlike Than Like	Neither Like Nor Unlike	More Like Than Unlike	Very Like

1. My father usually goes to parent-teacher conferences.

2. My father is not involved in school programs for parents.

3. My father sometimes does volunteer work at my school.

4. My father usually does not go to school functions.

5. My father usually goes to activities in which I am involved at school.



# Perceived Teacher Caring scale

Using the scale below, for each item, indicate how you feel about your teacher by circling a number.

- 1 & 7 = Very Strong Feeling
- 2 & 6 = Strong Feeling
- 3 & 5 = Weak Feeling
- 4 = Undecided

1.) Cares about me	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	Doesn't care about me
2.) Has my interest at heart	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	Doesn't have my interest at heart
3.) Self-centered	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	Not self-centered
4.) Concerned with me	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	Not concerned with me
5.) Insensitive	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	Sensitive
6.) Understanding	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	Not understanding
7.) Unresponsive	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	Responsive
8.) Understands how I feel	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	Doesn't understand how I feel
9.) Doesn't understand how I think	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	Understands how I think



## Academic Press scale

Using the scale below, for each item, select the number that is most true. Write your answer in the space after each item.

12345Not at all trueSomewhat trueVery true

- 1. When I've figured out how to do a problem, my teacher gives me more challenging problems to think about.
- 2. My teacher presses me to do thoughtful work.

3. My teacher asks me to explain how I get my answers.

- 4. When I'm working out a problem, my teacher tells me to keep thinking until I really understand. \_\_\_\_\_
- 5. My teacher doesn't let me do just easy work, but makes me think.
- 6. My teacher makes sure that the work I do really makes me think.

7. My teacher accepts nothing less than my full effort.



# Peer Influence Questionnaire

## Conventional involvement

Using the scale below, for each item, pick the number that best describes your FRIENDS.

0	1	2	3	4
None	A few	Some	Most	All

- 1. How many of your friends like to play sports?
- 2. How many of your friends get all good grades at school?
- 3. How many of your friends like school?
- 4. How many of your friends do homework after school at night?
- 5. How many of your friends want to go to college?
- 6. How many of your friends are in clubs or other organizations such as scouts?\_\_\_\_
- 7. How many of your friends like to read books after school?

# Peer trouble

Using the scale below, for each item, pick the number that best describes your FRIENDS.

0	1	2	3	4
None	A few	Some	Most	All

- 1. How many of your friends do things that might get them into trouble with the law?
- 2. How many of your friends have ever used a weapon (like a gun, knife, or club) in a serious fight? \_\_\_\_\_
- 3. How many of your friends have been in trouble with the police because of alcohol or drugs? \_\_\_\_\_
- 4. How many of your friends have quit or want to quit school? \_\_\_\_\_
- 5. How many of your friends have damaged other peoples' property on purpose?\_\_\_\_
- 6. How many of your friends have ever been stopped or picked up by the police?\_\_\_\_
- 7. How many of your friends do things that might get them into trouble at school?\_\_\_\_



# **APPENDIX B**

## PARENT INFORMATION SHEET

## Parental Permission/Research Informed Consent/Information Sheet

Title of Study: The mediating influence of school engagement between an adolescent's contextual environment and academic accomplishment.

## **Purpose:**

You are being asked to allow your child to be in a research study at High School to see how an adolescent's environment at home and in school can affect academic achievement. Your child has been selected because s/he is an adolescent attending high school. The estimated number of study participants to be enrolled is 250 students in grades nine through twelve. The knowledge gained by this study will improve our understanding of how to foster academic success. The results will be used as part of a doctoral dissertation at Wayne State University, College of Education, Department of Educational Psychology. Please read this form and ask any questions you may have before agreeing to allow your child to be in the study.

This study is being conducted by Najim Ahmed, M.Ed., Doctoral Candidate in the College of Education from Wayne State University.

## **Study Procedures**:

If you decide to allow your child to take part in the study, your child will initially have the study explained to him/her and be given the opportunity to agree to participate. If your child agrees as well, he/she will be asked to fill out a packet of the following seven surveys:

1. A short demographic questionnaire, including questions about the grades he/she typically receives in school.

(For example: age, gender, grade in school)

2. A questionnaire about behaviors related to school engagement

(e.g., "How much time do you put into homework each week, including reading assignments?")

3. A questionnaire about academic self-efficacy

(e.g., "When a lecture is especially boring, can you motivate yourself to keep good notes?")

4. A questionnaire about a student's beliefs regarding teacher academic expectations

(e.g., "My teacher presses me to do thoughtful work.")

5. A questionnaire about a student's belief's regarding his/her teacher's being responsive to him/her

(e.g., "My teacher understands how I think.")



6. A questionnaire about a student's beliefs regarding his/her parents expectations for achievement

(e.g., "My mother tries to get me to do my best on everything I do.")

7. A questionnaire about peer influence

(e.g., "How many of your friends like school?")

Your child's participation in the study will take approximately one class period (60 minutes) and will be conducted during the school day. Students will have the option to refuse to participate at any time.

After completing the surveys, no further information is needed from your child. Copies of the surveys are available for review at the main office. They may also be requested by contacting Mr. Ahmed at the information below.

**Benefits:** There may be no direct benefits for your child; however, information from this study may benefit other people now or in the future.

**Risks:** By taking part in this study, your child may experience the following risks:

1. Some students may perceive a loss of confidentiality due to their participation with other students in their classes. This situation can be controlled by cautioning the students not to discuss their survey responses among other participating students or with students who did not participate in the study.

2. In the unlikely event that some students experience negative reactions or feelings from their participation in the study, those students will be seen by the school counselor.

**Costs:** There are no costs to you or your child to participate in this study.

Compensation: You or your child will not be paid for taking part in this study.

# **Confidentiality:**

• All information collected about your child during the course of this study will be kept without any identifiers.

# **Voluntary Participation /Withdrawal:**

Your child's participation in this study is voluntary. You are free to withdraw your child at any time. Your decision about enrolling your child in the study will not change any present or future relationships with Wayne State University or its affiliates, your child's school, your child's teacher, your child's grades or other services you or your child are entitled to receive.

# **Questions:**

If you have any questions about this study now or in the future, you may contact Najim Ahmed or one of his research team members at the following phone number . If you have questions or concerns about your rights as a research participant, the Chair of the Institutional Review Board can be contacted at (313) 577-1628. If you are unable to contact the research staff,



or if you want to talk to someone other than the research staff, you may also call (313) 577-1628 to ask questions or voice concerns or complaints.

## **Participation:**

If you do not contact the principal investigator (PI) within a 2-week period, to state that you do not give permission for your child to be enrolled in the research, your child will be enrolled into the research. You may contact the PI by email , by phone

, or by returning the tear off sheet below to the school office.

# **Optional Tear Off**

If you do not wish to have your child participant in the study, you may fill out the form and return it to your child's teacher.

I do not allow my child study.	Name	to participate in this research
Printed Name of Parent		
Signature of Parent	Date	


## **APPENDIX C**

## ADOLESCENT ASSENT FORM

# Adolescent Assent Information Sheet (ages 13-17)

**Title:** The mediating influence of school engagement between an adolescent's contextual environment and academic accomplishment.

### Study Investigator: Najim Ahmed

### Why am I here?

This is a research study. Only people who choose to take part are included in research studies. You are being asked to take part in this study because you are a student at High School and the researcher is interested in your response. Please take time to make your decision.

### Why are they doing this study?

This study is being done to find out what is the most important thing that influences good grades.

### What will happen to me?

Your participation will consist of completing a packet of the following seven questionnaires:

- 1. Questions to obtain information about your age, grade, gender, and the kinds of grades you receive in school.
- 2. Questions about whether you believe your teacher cares about you as a person.
- 3. Questions about whether you believe your teacher wants you to do well academically.
- 4. Questions about good and/or bad peer influence you may have experienced.
- 5. Questions about academic self-efficacy, or how sure you feel about your ability to do well in school.
- 6. Questions about how much effort you put into schoolwork.
- 7. Questions about whether you believe your parents have your best interest in mind.

All students who are participating in the study will be asked to do so during class. Your participation will occur during the school day and take approximately one class period. During this time, you will complete a packet of questionnaires listed above. If you choose not to participate, you will be asked to work on an activity of your choice, such as finish homework or read a book.



Even if your parent/guardian gave permission for your participation, you are not required to participate if you do not want to, and you may stop part way through with no consequences. Additionally, if you choose, you can skip any questions that you do not feel comfortable answering.

## How long will I be in the study?

You will be in the study for one class period (approximately 60 minutes).

## Will the study help me?

• "You will not benefit from being in this study; however information from this study may help other people in the future by giving school teachers and administrators better information on how to foster academic success."

## Will anything bad happen to me?

You may perceive a loss of confidentiality due to your participation with other students in the class. This means that you may feel that other students have learned things about you that you wanted to keep private. To prevent this, please do not discuss your survey responses among other participating students or with students who did not participate in the study. In the unlikely event that you experience negative feelings from your participation in the study, you may stop your participation at any time. You can also see the school counselor.

## Do my parents or guardians know about this? (If applicable)

This study information has been given to your parents/guardian. They had the option of responding if they did not want you to participate.

## What about confidentiality?

The information that you provide on the surveys will not identify you. Your name will not be kept on any of the material.

### What if I have any questions?

For questions about the study please call Najim Ahmed at . If you have questions or concerns about your rights as a research participant, the Chair of the Institutional Review Board can be contacted at (313) 577-1628.

### Do I have to be in the study?

You don't have to be in this study if you don't want to or you can stop being in the study at any time. Please discuss your decision with the researcher. No one will be angry if you decide to stop being in the study.

### Agreement to be in the Study

By filling out the surveys that are handed out to you in class, you are agreeing to be in this study.



### **APPENDIX D**

# WAYNE STATE UNIVERSITY INSTITUTIONAL REVIEW BOARD APPROVAL

W	AYNE S JNIVER	STATE STATE STATE STATE STATE STATE STATE STATE STATE Phone: (313) 577-1628 FAX: (313) 993-7122 http://irb.wayne.edu
		NOTICE OF EXPEDITED APPROVAL
то:	Najim Ahmed	
From	College of Educ	ation I- I is ANH
From:	Chairperson, Be	shavioral Institutional Review Board (B3)
Date:	December 20, 2	012
RE:	IRB #:	116712B3E
	Protocol Title:	The Mediating Influence of School Engagement Between an Adolescent's Contextual Environment and Academic Accomplishment
	Funding Source	
	Protocol #:	1211011485
Expira	ation Date:	December 19, 2013
Risk L	evel / Category:	: 45 CFR 46.404 - Research not involving greater than minimal risk
The ab	pove-referenced p pry ( #7 )* by the (	protocol and items listed below (if applicable) were <b>APPROVED</b> following <i>Expedited Review</i> Chairperson/designee <i>for</i> the Wayne State University Institutional Review Board (B3) for the
The ab Catego beriod be requ • Pr	pove-referenced p ory ( #7 )* by the ( of 12/20/2012 thr uired. otocol Summary	protocol and items listed below (if applicable) were <b>APPROVED</b> following <i>Expedited Review</i> Chairperson/designee for the Wayne State University Institutional Review Board (B3) for the rough 12/19/2013. This approval does not replace any departmental or other approvals that may Form (received in the IRB Office 11/19/12)
The ab Catego beriod be requ • Pr • Pr • Th	pove-referenced p ory (#7)* by the ( of 12/20/2012 thr uired. otocol Summary otocol (received i	protocol and items listed below (if applicable) were <b>APPROVED</b> following <i>Expedited Review</i> Chairperson/designee for the Wayne State University Institutional Review Board (B3) for the rough 12/19/2013. This approval does not replace any departmental or other approvals that may Form (received in the IRB Office 11/19/12) in the IRB Office 11/19/12)
The ab Catego beriod be requ • Pr • Pr • Th ac Fo be (iii an pa (vi pr	pove-referenced p pory (#7)* by the ( of 12/20/2012 thr uired. otocol Summary otocol (received i re request for a w cording to 45 CFI rm. The waiver s the consent doci ) each participant's tricipants consen i) an information s povided to participartited artivity articiparticiparticiparticiparticipartic	protocol and items listed below (if applicable) were <b>APPROVED</b> following <i>Expedited Review</i> Chairperson/designee for the Wayne State University Institutional Review Board (B3) for the rough 12/19/2013. This approval does not replace any departmental or other approvals that may Form (received in the IRB Office 11/19/12) in the IRB Office 11/19/12) raiver of the requirement for written documentation of informed consent has been granted R 46.117(1)(2). Justification for this request has been provided by the PI in the Protocol Summari atisfies the following criteria: (i) The only record linking the participant and the research would ument, (ii) the principal risk would be potential harm resulting from a breach of confidentiality, t will be asked whether he or she wants documentation linking the participant with the research, s wishes will govern, (iv) the consent process is appropriate, (v) when used requested by the t documentation will be appropriate, (vi) the research is not subject to FDA regulations, and sheet disclosing the required and appropriate additional elements of consent disclosure will be ants not requesting documentation of consent. Auformation Sheet (dated 11/19/12)
The ab Catego beriod e require Pr • Pr • Th ac Foc (iii an pa (vi pru • Pa • An	pove-referenced p pory (#7)* by the ( of 12/20/2012 thr uired. otocol Summary otocol (received i he request for a w cording to 45 CFI rm. The waiver s the consent docc ) each participant' d the participant d th	protocol and items listed below (if applicable) were <b>APPROVED</b> following <i>Expedited Review</i> Chairperson/designee for the Wayne State University Institutional Review Board (B3) for the rough 12/19/2013. This approval does not replace any departmental or other approvals that may Form (received in the IRB Office 11/19/12) in the IRB Office 11/19/12) raiver of the requirement for written documentation of informed consent has been granted R 46.117(1)(2). Justification for this request has been provided by the PI in the Protocol Summari atisfies the following criteria: (i) The only record linking the participant and the research would ument, (ii) the principal risk would be potential harm resulting from a breach of confidentiality, t will be asked whether he or she wants documentation linking the participant with the research, s wishes will govern, (iv) the consent process is appropriate, (v) when used requested by the t documentation will be appropriate, (vi) the research is not subject to FDA regulations, and sheet disclosing the required and appropriate additional elements of consent disclosure will be ants not requesting documentation of consent. h/Information Sheet (dated 11/19/12)
The ab Catego period perequi- Pr Pr Pr Th acc Fc be (iiii an pa (vi pr Pr e Acc • • • • • • •	pove-referenced p ory (#7)* by the ( of 12/20/2012 thr uired. otocol Summary otocol (received i he request for a w cording to 45 CFI rm. The waiver s the consent doci ) each participant' riticipants consen i) an information i) a	protocol and items listed below (if applicable) were <b>APPROVED</b> following <i>Expedited Review</i> Chairperson/designee for the Wayne State University Institutional Review Board (B3) for the rough 12/19/2013. This approval does not replace any departmental or other approvals that may Form (received in the IRB Office 11/19/12) in the IRB Office 11/19/12) raiver of the requirement for written documentation of informed consent has been granted R 46.117(1)(2). Justification for this request has been provided by the PI in the Protocol Summari atisfies the following criteria: (i) The only record linking the participant and the research would ument, (ii) the principal risk would be potential harm resulting from a breach of confidentiality, t will be asked whether he or she wants documentation linking the participant with the research, s wishes will govern, (iv) the consent process is appropriate, (v) when used requested by the t documentation will be appropriate, (vi) the research is not subject to FDA regulations, and sheet disclosing the required and appropriate additional elements of consent disclosure will be ants not requesting documentation of consent. h/Information Sheet (dated 11/19/12) Information Sheet for Ages 13-17 (dated 11/19/12)
The ab Categg period be requ Pr Pr Tha ac Fc be (iiii an pa (vi (vi pr Pa Ac Quant Pa Pa	pove-referenced p ory (#7)* by the ( of 12/20/2012 thr uired. otocol Summary otocol (received i he request for a w cording to 45 CFI rm. The waiver s the consent doci ) each participant' riticipants consen i) an information i) a	protocol and items listed below (if applicable) were <b>APPROVED</b> following <i>Expedited Review</i> Chairperson/designee for the Wayne State University Institutional Review Board (B3) for the rough 12/19/2013. This approval does not replace any departmental or other approvals that may Form (received in the IRB Office 11/19/12) in the IRB Office 11/19/12) raiver of the requirement for written documentation of informed consent has been granted R 46.117(1)(2). Justification for this request has been provided by the PI in the Protocol Summari atisfies the following criteria: (i) The only record linking the participant and the research would ument, (ii) the principal risk would be potential harm resulting from a breach of confidentiality, t will be asked whether he or she wants documentation linking the participant with the research, s wishes will govern, (iv) the consent process is appropriate, (v) when used requested by the t documentation will be appropriate, (vi) the research is not subject to FDA regulations, and sheet disclosing the required and appropriate additional elements of consent disclosure will be ants not requesting documentation of consent. h/Information Sheet (dated 11/19/12) Information Sheet for Ages 13-17 (dated 11/19/12) s: Demographic Questionnaire, Academic Press Scale, Peer Influence Questionnaire, Perceived ale, School Engagement Questionnaire, Self-Efficacy for Learning Form, and Parenting Style and nt Questionnaire



#### REFERENCES

- Allen, J., Pianta, R., Gregory, A., Mikami, A., & Lun, J. (2011). An interaction-based approach to enhancing secondary school instruction and school achievement. *Science*, 333(6045), 1034-1037. doi: 10.1126/science.1207998
- Arunkumar, R., Midgley, C., & Urdan, T. (1999). Perceiving high or low home-school dissonance: Longitudinal effects on adolescent emotional and academic well-being.
   *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, 9(4), 441-466. doi: 10.1177/0095798409353758
- Aunola, K., Stattin, H., & Nurmi, J. (2000). Parenting styles and adolescents' achievement strategies. *Journal of Adolescence*, *23*(2), 205-222. doi: 10.1006/jado.2000.0308
- Bandura, A. (1986). *Social foundations of thought and action: A social cognitive theory*. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- Bandura, A. (1997). *Self-efficacy: The exercise of control*. New York: W.H. Freeman and Company.
- Baron, R. M. & Kenny, D. A. (1986). The mediator-moderator variable distinction in social psychological research: Conceptual, strategic, and statistical considerations. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 51(6), 1173-1182. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.51.6.1173
- Benner, A. D., Graham, S., & Mistry, R. S. (2008). Discerning direct and mediated effects of ecological structures and processes on adolescents' educational outcomes. *Developmental Psychology*, 44(3), 840-854. doi: 10.1037/0012-1649.44.3.840
- Benner, A. D., & Mistry, R. S. (2007). Congruence of mother and teacher educational expectations and low-income youth's academic competence. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 99(1), 140-153. doi: 10.1037/0022-0663.99.1.140



Benner, A. D., & Kim, S. Y. (2010). Understanding Chinese American adolescents' developmental outcomes: Insights from the family stress model. *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, 20(1), 1-12. doi: 10.1111/j.1532-7795.2009.00629.x

- Blackwell, L. S., Trzesniewski, K. H., & Dweck, C. S. (2007). Implicit theories of intelligence predict achievement across and adolescent transition: A longitudinal study and an intervention. *Child Development*, 78(1), 246-263. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-8624.2007.00995.x
- Bogenschneider, K. (1997). Parental involvement in adolescent schooling: A proximal process with transcontextual validity. *Journal of Marriage and the Family, 59*(3), 1-16. doi: 10.2307/353956
- Bong, M. (2008). Effects of parent-child relationships and classroom goal structures on motivation, help-seeking avoidance, and cheating. *Journal of Experimental Education*, 76(2), 191-217. doi: 10.3200/JEXE.76.2.191-217
- Brody, G., Stoneman, Z., & Flor, D. (1995). Linking family processes and academic competence among rural African-American youths. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, 57(3), 567-579. doi: 10.2307/353913
- Brown, B., Mounts, N., Lamborn, S. & Steinberg, L. (1993). Parenting practices and peer group affiliation in adolescence. *Child Development*, *64*(2), 467-482. doi: 10.2307/1131263
- Burrell, G., & Roosa, M. (2009). Mothers' economic hardship and behavior problems in their early adolescents. *Journal of Family Issues*, 30(4), 511-531. doi: 10.1177/0192513X08327887



- Carlo, G., Padilla-Walker, L. P., & Day, R. (2011). A test of the economic strain model on adolescents' prosocial behaviors. *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, 21(4), 842-848.
  doi: 10.1111/j.1532-7795.2011.00742.x
- Caro, D. H., McDonald, J. T., & Willms, J. D. (2009). Socio-economic status and academic achievement trajectories from childhood to adolescence. *Canadian Journal of Education*, 32(3), 558-590. Retrieved from http://www.csse-scee.ca/CJE/Articles/FullText/CJE32-3/CJE32-3-CaroEtAl.pdf
- Catterall, J. (1998). Risk and resilience in student transitions to high school. *American Journal of Education*, *106*(2), 302-333. doi: 10.1086/444184
- Ceballo, R., McLoyd, V. C., & Toyokawa, T. (2004). The influence of neighborhood quality on adolescents' educational values and school effort. *Journal of Adolescent Research*, 19(6), 716-739. doi: 10.1177/0743558403260021
- Clark, R., Dogan, R. R., & Akbar, N. J. (2003). Youth and parental correlates of externalizing symptoms, adaptive functioning, and academic performance: An exploratory study in preadolescent Blacks. *Journal of Black Psychology*, 29(2), 210-229. doi: 10.1177/0095798403029002005
- Corville-Smith, J., Ryan, B., Adams, G., & Dalicandro, T. (1998). Distinguishing absentee students from regular attenders: The combined influence of personal, family, and school factors. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 27(5), 629-640. doi: 10.1023/A:1022887124634

10.1025/A:102288/124034

Crosnoe, R. (2001). Academic orientation and parental involvement in education during high school. *Sociology of Education*, 74(3), 210-230. doi: 10.2307/2673275



Crosnoe, R., & Huston, A. C. (2007). Socioeconomic status, schooling, and the developmental trajectories of adolescents. *Developmental Psychology*, 43(5), 1097-1110. doi: 10.1037/0012-1649.43.5.1097

- DeBaryshe, K., Patterson, G., & Capaldi, D. (1993). A performance model for academic achievement in early adolescent boys. *Developmental Psychology*, 29(5), 795-804. doi: 10.1037/0012-1649.29.5.795
- de Boer, H., Bosker, R., & van Werf, M. (2010). Sustainability of teacher expectation bias
  effects on long-term student performance. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *102*(1), 168-179. doi: 10.1037/a0017289
- Downey, D., & Pribesh, S. (2004). When race matters: Teachers' evaluations of students' classroom behavior. *Sociology of Education*, 77(4), 267-282. doi: 10.1177/003804070407700401
- DuBois, D., Felner, R., Brand, S., Adan, A., & Evans, E. (1992). A prospective study of life stress, social support, and adaptation in early adolescence. *Child Development*, 63(3), 542-557. doi: 10.2307/1131345
- DuBois, D., Felner, R., Meares, H., & Krier, M. (1994). Prospective investigation of the effects of socioeconomic disadvantage, life stress, and social support on early adolescent adjustment. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, *103*(3), 511-522. doi: 10.1037/0021-843X.103.3.511
- Durik, A. M., Vida, M., & Eccles, J. (2006). Task values and ability beliefs as predictors of high school literacy choices: A developmental analysis. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 98(2), 382-393. doi: 10.1037/0022-0663.98.2.382



Duchesne, S., & Ratelle, C. (2010). Parental behaviors and adolescents' achievement goals at the beginning of middle school: Emotional problems as potential mediators. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 102(2), 497-507. doi: 10.1037/a0019320

- Eamon, M. K. (2005). Social-demographic, school, neighborhood, and parenting influences on the academic achievement of Latino young adolescents. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 34(2), 163-174. doi: 10.1007/s10964-005-3214-x
- Eccles, J. (2004). Schools, academic motivation, and stage-environment fit. In R. Lerner & L. Steinberg (Eds.), *Handbook of adolescent psychology*. New York: Wiley.
- Eccles, J., & Roeser, R. (2011). Schools as developmental contexts during adolescence. *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, *21*(1), 225-241. doi: 10.1111/j.1532-7795.2010.00725.x
- Farkas, G., Grobe, R., & Shuan, Y. (1990). Cultural resources and school success: Gender, ethnicity, and poverty groups within and urban school district. *American Sociological Review*, 55(1), 127-142. doi: 10.2307/2095708
- Felner, R., Brand, S., DuBois, D., Adan, A., Mulhall, P., & Evans, E. (1995). Socioeconomic disadvantage, proximal environmental experiences, and socioemotional and academic adjustment in early adolescence: Investigation of a mediated effects model. *Child Development*, 66(3), 774-792. doi: 10.2307/1131950
- Flashman, J. (2012). Academic achievement and its impact on friend dynamics. *Sociology of Education*, 85(1), 61-80. doi: 10.1177/0038040711417014
- Fletcher, A., Darling, N., Steinberg, L., & Dornbusch, S. (1995). The company they keep:
  Relation of adolescents' adjustment and behavior to their friends' perceptions of
  authoritative parenting in the social network. *Developmental Psychology*, *31*(2), 300-310.
  doi: 10.1037/0012-1649.31.2.300



Fredricks, J., McColskey, W., Meli, J., Mordica, J., Montrosse, B., and Mooney, K. (2011). Measuring student engagement in upper elementary through high school: A description of 21 instruments. Retrieved April 25, 2012, from http://ies.ed.gov/ncee/edlabs/regions/southeast/pdf/REL\_2011098.pdf

- Fuligni, A., & Eccles, J. (1993). Perceived parent-child relationships and early adolescents' orientation toward peers. *Developmental Psychology*, 29(4), 622-632. doi: 10.1037/0012-1649.29.4.622
- Fuller-Rowell, T. E., Evans, G. W., & Ong, A. D. (2012). Poverty and health: The mediating role of perceived discrimination. *Psychological Science*, 23(7), 734-739. doi: 10.1177/0956797612439720
- Garg, R., Melanson, S., & Levin, E. (2007). Educational aspirations of male and female adolescents from single-parent and two biological parent families: A comparison of influential factors. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, *36*(8), 1010-1023. doi: 10.1007/s10964-006-9137-3
- Gillock, K., & Reyes, O. (1999). Stress, support and academic performance of urban, lowincome, Mexican-American adolescents. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 28(2), 259-282. doi: 10.1023/A:1021657516275
- Glasgow, K., Dornbusch, Troyer, L., Steinberg, L. S., & Ritter, P. (1997). Parenting styles, adolescents' attributions, and educational outcomes in nine heterogenous high schools. *Child Development*, 68(3), 507-529. doi: 10.2307/1131675
- Gonzales, N., Cauce, A., Friedman, R., & Mason, C. (1996). Family, peer, and neighborhood influences on academic achievement among African-American adolescents: One-year



prospective effects. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 24(3), 365-387. doi: 10.1007/BF02512027

- Goyette, K., & Xie, Y. (1999). Educational expectations of Asian American youths:
   Determinants and ethnic differences. *Sociology of Education*, 72(1), 22-36. doi: 10.2307/2673184
- Goza, F., & Ryabov, I. (2009). Adolescents' educational outcomes: Racial and ethnic variations in peer network importance. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 38(9), 1264-1279. doi: 10.1007/s10964-009-9418-8
- Gregory, L. (1995). The "turnaround" process: Factors influencing the school success of urban youth. *Journal of Adolescent Research, 10*(1), 136-154. doi: 10.1177/0743554895101008
- Gregory, A., Cornell, D., Fan, X., Sheras, P., Shih, T., & Huang, F. (2010). Authoritative school discipline: High school practices associated with lower bullying and victimization.
   *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *102*(2), 483-496. doi: 10.1037/a0018562
- Grolnick, W., & Slowiaczek, M. (1994). Parents' involvement in children's schooling: A multidimensional conceptualization and motivational model. *Child Development*, 65(1), 237-252. doi: 10.2307/1131378
- Gutierrez, R. (2000). Advancing African American, urban youth in mathematics: Unpacking the success of one math department. *American Journal of Education*, 109(1), 63-111. doi: 10.1086/444259
- Hallinan, M. (2008). Teacher influences on students' attachment to school. *Sociology of Education*, *81*(3), 271-283. doi: 10.1177/003804070808100303



- Hamre, B. K., & Pianta, R. C. (2001). Early teacher-child relationships and the trajectory of children's school outcomes through eighth grade. *Child Development*, 72(2), 625-638. doi: 10.1111/1467-8624.00301
- Hanson, S. (1994). Lost talent: Unrealized educational aspirations and expectations among U.S. youths. Sociology of Education, 67(3), 159-183. doi: 10.2307/2112789
- Henry, K. L., Cavanagh, T. M., & Oetting, E. R. (2011). Perceived parental investment in school as a mediator of the relationship between socio-economic indicators and educational outcomes in rural America. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence, 40*(9), 1164-1177. doi: 10.1007/s10964-010-9616-4
- Hill, N. E., Castellino, D. R., Lansford, J. E., Nowlin, P., Dodge, K. A., Bates, J. E., & Pettit, G. S. (2004). Parent academic involvement as related to school behavior, achievement, and aspirations: Demographic variations across adolescence. *Child Development*, 75(5), 1491-1509. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-8624.2004.00753.x
- Hill, N. E. & Tyson, D. (2009). Parental involvement in middle school: A meta-analytic assessment of the strategies that promote achievement. *Developmental Psychology*, 45(3), 740-763. doi: 10.1037/a0015362
- Hoover-Dempsey, K., & Sandler, H. (1995). Parental involvement in children's education: Why does it make a difference? *Teachers College Record*, 97(2), 310-331.
- Ibanez, G. E., Kuperminc, G. P., Jurkovic, G., & Perilla, J. (2004). Cultural attributes and adaptations linked to achievement motivation among Latino adolescents. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 33(6), 559-568. doi: 10.1023/B:JOYO.0000048069.22681.2c



- Jodl, K. M., Michael, A., Malanchuk, O., Eccles, J., & Sameroff, A. (2001). Parents' roles in shaping early adolescents' occupational aspirations. *Child Development*, 72(4), 1247-1265. doi: 10.1111/1467-8624.00345
- Juang, L., & Silbereisen, R. K. (2002). The relationship between adolescent academic capability beliefs, parenting and school grades. *Journal of Adolescence*, 25(1), 3-18. doi: 10.1006/jado.2001.0445
- Jussim, L., Eccles, J., & Madon, S. (1996). Social perception, social stereotypes, and teacher expectations: Accuracy and the quest for the powerful self-fulfilling prophecy. *Advances in Experimental Social Psychology*, 28, 281-388. doi: 10.1016/S0065-2601(08)60240-3
- Juvonen, J., & Murdock, T. (1995). Grade-level differences in the social value of effort: Implications for self-presentation tactics of early adolescents. *Child Development*, 66(6), 1694-1705. doi: 10.2307/1131904
- Kao, G., & Tienda, M. (1998). Educational aspirartions of minority youth. American Journal of Education, 106(3), 349-384. doi: 10.1086/444188
- Kalil, A. & Ziol-Guest, K. (2008). Teacher support, school goal structures, and teenage mothers' school engagement. *Youth and Society*, 39(4), 524-548. doi: 10.1177/0044118X07301001
- Kenny, M. E., Blustein, D. L., Chaves, A., Grossman, J. M., & Gallagher, L. A. (2003). The role of perceived barriers and relational support in the educational and vocational lives of urban high school students. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, *50*(2), 142-155. doi: 10.1037/0022-0167.50.2.142
- Kerlinger, F. N. & Lee, H. B. (2000). *Foundations of behavioral research* (4<sup>th</sup> ed.). London: Wadsworth.



- Kerpelman, J.L., Eryigit, S. & Stephens, C. J. (2008). African American adolescents' future education orientation: Associations with self-efficacy, ethnic identity, and perceived parental support. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, *37*(8), 997-1008. doi: 10.1007/s10964-007-9201-7
- Kim, S., & Brody, G. H. (2005). Longitudinal pathways to psychological adjustment among Black youth living in single-parent households. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 19(2), 305-313. doi: 10.1037/0893-3200.19.2.305

Kiran-Esen, B. (2012). Analyzing peer pressure and self-efficacy expectations among adolescents. *Social Behavior and Personality*, 40(8), 1301-1310. doi: 10.2224/sbp.2012.40.8.1301

- Kuperminc, G., Darnell, A., & Alvarez-Jimenez, A. (2008). Parent involvement in the academic adjustment of Latino middle and high school youth: Teacher expectations and school belonging as mediators. *Journal of Adolescence*, *31*(4), 469-483.
  doi:10.1016/j.adolescence.2007.09.003
- Kurdek, L., Fine, M., & Sinclair, R. (1995). School adjustment in sixth graders: Parenting transitions, family climate, and peer norm effects. *Child Development*, 66(2), 430-445. doi: 10.2307/1131588
- Langer, J. A. (2001). Beating the odds: Teaching middle and high school students to read and write well. *American Educational Research Journal*, 38(4), 837-880.doi: 10.3102/00028312038004837
- Lee, V., & Croninger, R. (1994). The relative importance of home and school in the development of literacy skills for middle-grade students. *American Journal of Education*, 102(3), 286-329. doi: 10.1086/444071



- Li, Y., Lerner, J. V., & Lerner, R. M. (2010). Personal and ecological assets and academic competence in early adolescence: The mediating role of school engagement. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence, 39*(7), 801-815. doi: 10.1007/s10964-010-9535-4
- Li, Y., & Lerner, R. M. (2011). Trajectories of school engagement during adolescence: Implications for grades, depression, delinquency, and substance use. *Developmental Psychology*, 47(1), 233-247. doi: 10.1037/a0021307
- Loukas, A., Suzuki, R., & Horton, K. D. (2006). Examining school connectedness as a mediator of school climate effects. *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, 16(3), 491-502. doi: 10.1111/j.1532-7795.2006.00504.x
- Lucas, S. (1996). Selective attrition in a newly hostile regime: The case of 1980 sophomores. *Social Forces*, *75*(2), 511-533. doi: 10.2307/2580411
- Luthar, S., & McMahon, T. (1996). Peer reputation among inner-city adolescents: Structure and correlates. *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, 6(4), 581-603. Retrieved from http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/journal/10.1111/%28ISSN%291532-7795/issues
- Luthar, S., Shoum, K. A., & Brown, P. J. (2006). Extracurricular involvement among affluent youth: A scapegoat for "ubiquitous achievement pressures"? *Developmental Psychology*, 42(3), 583-597. doi: 10.1037/0012-1649.42.3.583
- Lynch, A. D., Lerner, R. M., & Leventhal, T. (2013). Adolescent academic achievement and school engagement: An examination of the role of school-wide peer culture. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 42(1), 6-19. doi: 10.1007/s10964-012-9833-0
- Maatt, S., Nurmi, J., & Stattin, H. (2007). Achievement orientations, school adjustment, and well-being: A longitudinal study. *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, *17*(4), 789-812. doi: 10.1111/j.1532-7795.2007.00547.x



- MacKinnon, D. P., Fairchild, A. J., & Fritz, M. S. (2007). Mediation analysis. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 58(1), 593-614. doi: 10.1146/annurev.psych.58.110405.085542
- McLoyd, V., Kaplan, R., Purtell, K., Bagley, E., Hardaway, C., & Smalls, C. (2009). Poverty and socioeconomic disadvantage in adolescence. In R. Lerner & L. Steinberg (Eds.), *Handbook of adolescent psychology* (3rd ed., Vol. 2, pp. 444-491). New York: Wiley.
- McNeil, M. (2011a). Are 82% of schools failing under NCLB, as Duncan warned? Retrieved October 23, 2011, from http://blogs.edweek.org/edweek/campaign-k-12/2011/08/are 82 of schools failing unde.html
- McNeil, M. (2011b). Obama gives go-ahead for NCLB waivers to states. Retrieved October 23, 2011, from http://blogs.edweek.org/edweek/campaign-k-12/2011/08/obama\_gives\_go-ahead\_for\_waivers.html
- Melby, J., & Conger, R. (1996). Parental behaviors and adolescent academic performance: A longitudinal analysis. *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, 6(1), 113-137. doi: 10.1207/s15327795jra0701\_6
- Melby, J. N., Fang, S., Wickrama, K. A. S., Conger, R. D., & Conger, K. J. (2008). Adolescent family experiences and educational attainment during early adulthood. *Developmental Psychology*, 44(6), 1519-1536. doi: 10.1037/a0013352
- Middleton, M. J., & Midgley, C. (2002). Beyond motivation: Middle school students' perceptions of press for understanding in math. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, 27(3), 373–391. doi: 10.1006/ceps.2001.1101
- Midgley, C., Maehr, M. L., Hruda, L. Z., Anderman, E., Anderman, L., Freeman, K. E., Gheen, M., Kaplan, A., Kumar, R., Middleton, M. J., Nelson, J., Roeser, R., & Urdan, T. C.



(2000). *Manual for the patterns of adaptive learning scales*. Ann Arbor, MI: University of Michigan.

- Midgley, C., & Urdan, T. (1995). Predictors of middle school students' use of self-handicapping strategies. *Journal of Early Adolescence*, 15(4), 389-411. doi:10.1177/0272431695015004001
- Miller, R. M. (2010). The influence of teachers' caring behaviors on high school students' behavior and grades. (Doctoral Dissertation). Retrieved from PsychInfo. (2010-99110-306)
- Mofid, P. V., Azadfallah, P., & Tabatabai, K. R. (2012). Parenting style, personality characteristics and academic achievement in students. *Journal of Psychology*, *16*(2), 106-120. Retrieved from http://www.magiran.com/view.asp?Type=pdf&ID=1030090&l=en
- Moos, R. (1978). A typology of junior high and high school classrooms. *American Educational Research Journal*, *15*(1), 53-66. doi:10.3102/00028312015001053
- Mounts, N., & Steinberg, L. (1995). An ecological analysis of peer influence on adolescent grade point average and drug use. *Developmental Psychology*, *31*(6), 915-922. doi: 10.1037/0012-1649.31.6.915
- Muller, C. (1998). Gender differences in parental involvement and adolescents' mathematics achievement. *Sociology of Education*, *71*(4), 336-356. doi: 10.2307/2673174
- Muller, P.A., Stage, F. K., & Kinzie, J. (2001). Science achievement growth trajectories:
   Understanding factors related to gender and racial-ethnic differences in precollege
   achievement. American Educational Research Journal, 38(4), 981-1012. doi:
   10.3102/00028312038004981



Murray, C. (2009). Parent and teacher relationships as predictors of school engagement and functioning among low-income urban youth. *Journal of Early Adolescence*, 29(3), 376-404. doi: 10.1177/0272431608322940

- Ormrod, J. E. (2009). *Essentials of educational psychology* (2<sup>nd</sup> ed). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson.
- Patrikakou, E. (1996). Investigating the academic achievement of adolescents with learning disabilities: A structural modeling approach. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 88(3), 435-450. doi: 10.1037/0022-0663.88.3.435
- Patton, G. C., Bond, L., Carlin, J. B., Thomas, L., Butler, H., Glover, S., Catalanao, R., & Bowes, G. (2006). Promoting social inclusion in schools: A group-randomized trial of effects on student health risk behavior and well-being. *American Journal of Public Health*, *96*(9), 1582-1587. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2004.047399
- Paulson, S. E. (1994). Relations of parenting style and parental involvement with ninth-grade students' achievement. *The Journal of Early Adolescence*, *14*(2), 250-267. doi:10.1177/027243169401400208
- Paulson, S. E., & Sputa, C. L. (1996). Patterns of parenting during adolescence: Perceptions of adolescents and parents. *Adolescence*, 31(122), 369-381. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8726896
- Pearson, B. (2010). Multicultural navigators and college-bound high school students' academic achievement, self-efficacy for learning, and perceived task-value. *Dissertation Abstracts International Section A: Humanities and Social Sciences*, 70(7-A), 2388. (UMI Number: 3367075)



Pellerin, L. A. (2005). Student disengagement and the socialization styles of high schools. Social Forces, 84(2), 1159-1179. doi: 10.1353/sof.2006.0027

- Perry, J. C. (2008). School engagement among urban youth of color: Criterion pattern effects of vocational exploration and racial identity. *Journal of Career Development*, 34(4), 397-422. doi: 10.1177/0894845308316293
- Pietsch, J., Walker, R., & Chapman, E. (2003). The relation among self-concept, self efficacy, and performance in mathematics during secondary school. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 95(3), 589-603. doi: 10.1037/0022-0663.95.3.589
- Pong, S. (1998). The school compositional effect of single parenthood on 10<sup>th</sup>-grade achievement. *Sociology of Education*, *71*(1), 23-42. doi: 10.2307/2673220

Public Agenda. (1997). Getting by: What American teenagers really think about their schools. Retrieved June 20, 2012, from http://www.aecf.org/upload/publicationfiles/getting%20by.pdf

- Pungello, E., Kupersmidt, J., Burchinal, M., & Patterson, C. (1996). Environmental risk factors and children's achievement from middle childhood to early adolescence. *Developmental Psychology*, 32(4), 755-767. doi: 10.1037/0012-1649.32.4.755
- Ream, R., & Rumberger, R. (2008). Student engagement, peer social capital, and school dropout among Mexican American and non-Latino White students. *Sociology of Education*, *81*(2), 109-139. doi: 10.1177/003804070808100201
- Reddy, R., Rhodes, J. E., & Mulhall, P. (2003). The influence of teacher support on student adjustment in the middle school years: A latent growth curve study. *Development and Psychopathology*, 15(1), 119-138. doi: 10.1017.S0954579403000075



Riegle-Crumb, C., Farkas, G., & Muller, C. (2006). The role of gender and friendship in advanced course taking. *Sociology of Education*, 79(3), 206-228. doi: 10.1177/003804070607900302

- Rosenbloom, S. R., & Way, N. (2004). Experiences of discrimination among African American, Asian American, and Latino adolescents in an urban high school. *Youth and Society*, 35(4), 420-451. doi: 10.1177/0044118X03261479
- Roseth, C. J., Johnson, D. W., & Johnson, R. T. (2008). Promoting early adolescents' achievement and peer relationships: The effects of cooperative, competitive, and individualistic goal structures. *Psychological Bulletin*, *134*(2), 223-246. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.134.2.223
- Rumberger, R., Ghatak, R., Poulos, G., Ritter, P., & Dornbusch, S. (1990). Family influences on dropout behavior in one California high school. *Sociology of Education*, 63(4), 283-299. doi: 10.2307/2112876
- Rutter, M. (1983). School effects on pupil progress: Research findings and policy implications. *Child Development*, *54*(1), 1-29. doi: 10.1111/1467-8624.ep8588528
- Ryan, A. M., & Patrick, H. (2001). The classroom social environment and changes in adolescents' motivation and engagement during middle school. *American Educational Research Journal*, 38(2), 437-460. doi:10.3102/00028312038002437
- Sackett, P. R., Kuncel, N. R., Arneson, J. J., Cooper, S. R., & Waters, S. D. (2009). Does socioeconomic status explain the relationship between admissions tests and postsecondary academic performance? *Psychological Bulletin*, 135(1), 1-22. doi: 10.1037/a0013978



- Schaefer, E. S. (1965). Children's reports of parental behavior: An inventory. *Child Development*, 36(2), 413-424. doi: 10.2307/1126465
- Schmidt, J. (2003). Correlates of reduced misconduct among adolescents facing adversity. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, *32*(6), 439-452. doi: 10.1023/A:1025938402377
- Schoon, I., Parsons, S., & Sacker, A. (2004). Socioeconomic adversity, educational resilience, and subsequent levels of adult adaptation. *Journal of Adolescent Research*, 19(4), 383-404. doi: 10.1177/0743558403258856
- Schunk, D. (2001). Social cognitive theory of self-regulated learning. In B. Zimmerman & D. Schunk (Eds.), Self-regulated learning and academic achievement: Theoretical perspectives (pp. 125-152). Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Shumow, L., & Miller, J. D. (2001). Parents at-home and at-school academic involvement with youth adolescents. *Journal of Early Adolescence*, 21(1), 68-91. doi:10.1177/0272431601021001004
- Simpson, D. D., & McBride, A. A. (1992). Family, Friends, and Self (FFS) Assessment Scales for Mexican American youth. *Hispanic Journal of Behavioral Sciences*, 14(3), 327-340. doi:10.1177/07399863920143003
- Sims, K. (2012). A hierarchical examination of the immigrant achievement gap: The additional explanatory power of nationality and educational selectivity over traditional explorations of race and socioeconomic status. *Journal of Advanced Academics*, 23(1), 72-98. doi: 10.1177/1932202X11430270
- Sirin, S. R., & Rogers-Sirin, L. (2004). Exploring school engagement of middle-class African American adolescents. *Youth and Society*, *35*(3), 323-340. doi:

10.1177/0044118X03255006



Smith, S. (2005). The role of perceived school context in mediating the relationship between peer victimization and student adjustment. *Dissertation Abstracts International Section A: Humanities and Social Sciences*, 66(3-A), 896. (UMI No. 3166749)

- South, S. J., Baumer, E. P., & Lutz, A. (2003). Interpreting community effects on youth educational attainment. *Youth and Society*, *35*(1), 3-36. doi:10.1177/0044118X03254560
- Spencer, M. B. (2005). Crafting identities and accessing opportunities post-Brown. *American Psychologist*, *60*(8), 821-830. doi: 10.1037/0003-066X.60.8.821
- State of Michigan (2011). MI School Data. Retrieved September 18, 2011, from https://www.mischooldata.org/DistrictSchoolProfiles/ReportCard/ReportCardSummary/R eportCardSummary.aspx
- State of Michigan (2012a). Guide to reading 2011 Michigan School Report Card including AYP. Retrieved May 13, 2012, from

https://oeaa.state.mi.us/ayp/Docs/GuideToReadingSchoolReportCards.pdf

- State of Michigan (2012b). Calculation of Adequate Yearly Progress. Retrieved May 10, 2012, from http://www.michigan.gov/documents/aypcalculation\_1\_50494\_7.pdf
- State of Michigan (2013). MI School Data. Retrieved August 29, 2013 from https://www.mischooldata.org/DistrictSchoolProfiles/ReportCard/EducationDashboard.as px
- Steinberg, L. (1996). Beyond the classroom: Why school reform has failed and what parents need to do. New York: Simon & Shuster.
- Steinberg, L. (2001). We know some things: Adolescent-parent relationships in retrospect and prospect. *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, 11(1), 1-19. doi: 10.1111/1532-7795.00001



Steinberg, L. (2014). Adolescence (10<sup>th</sup> ed.). New York: McGraw-Hill.

- Steinberg, L., & Cauffman, E. (1996). Maturity of judgment in adolescence: Psychosocial factors in adolescent decision making. *Law and Human Behavior*, 20(3), 249-272. doi: 10.1007/BF01499023
- Steinberg, L., Dornbusch, S., & Brown, B. (1992). Ethnic differences in adolescent achievement: An ecological perspective. *American Psychologist*, 47(6), 723-729. doi: 10.1037/0003-066X.47.6.723
- Steinberg, L., Lamborn, S., Darling, N., Mounts, N. & Dornbusch, S. (1994). Over-time changes in adjustment and competence among adolescents from authoritative, authoritarian, indulgent, and neglectful families. *Child Development*, 65(3), 754-770. doi: 10.1111/1467-8624.ep9408220878
- Stewart, E. B., Stewart, E. A., & Simons, R. A. (2007). The effect of neighborhood context on the college aspirations of African-American adolescents. *American Educational Research Journal*, 44(4), 896-919. doi:10.3102/0002831207308637
- Sui-Chu, E., & Willms, J. (1996). Effects of parental involvement on eighth-grade achievement. Sociology of Education, 69(2), 126-141. doi: 10.2307/2112802
- Taylor, R., Casten, R., Flickinger, S., Roberts, D., & Fulmore, C. (1994). Explaining the school performance of African American adolescents. *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, 4(1), 21–44. doi: 10.1111/1532-7795.ep11301469
- Teachman, J. (1996). Intellectual skill and academic performance: Do families bias the relationship? *Sociology of Education*, *69*(1), 35-48. doi: 10.2307/2112722
- Teachman, J., & Paasch, K. (1998). The family and educational aspirations. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, 60(3), 704-714. doi: 10.2307/353539



Temple, A. (2013). A model of student engagement and academic achievement: The role of teacher-student relationships and teacher expectations. *Dissertation Abstracts International Section A: Humanities and Social Sciences*, 73(8-A). (UMI Number: 3504032)

- Teven, J. J. & McCroskey, J. C. (1997). The relationship of perceived teacher caring with student learning and teacher evaluation. *Communication Education*, 46(1), 1-9. doi: 10.1080/03634529709379069
- U.S. Department of Education (2011). National Blue Ribbon Schools Program. Retrieved September 18, 2011, from http://www2.ed.gov/programs/nclbbrs/legislation.html
- Usher, E. L. (2009). Sources of middle school students' self-efficacy in mathematics: A qualitative investigation. *American Educational Research Journal*, *46*(1), 275-314. doi: 10.3102/0002831208324517
- Veronneau, M. –H., Vitaro, F., Brendgan, M., Dishion, T. J., & Tremblay, R. E. (2010). Transactional analysis of the reciprocal links between peer experiences and academic achievement from middle childhood to early adolescence. *Developmental Psychology*, 46(4), 773-790. doi: 10.10037/a0019816
- Vieno, A., Perkins, D. D., Smith, T. M., & Santinello, M. (2005). Democratic school climate and sense of community in the school: A multilevel analysis. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 36(3-4), 327-341. doi: 10.1007/s10464-005-8629-8
- Voelkl, K. E. (1996). Measuring students' identification with school. *Educational and Psychological Measurement*, *56*(5), 760-770. doi: 10.1177/0013164496056005003
- Wang, Q., Pomerantz, E. M., & Chen, H. (2007). The role of parents' control in early adolescents' psychological functioning: A longitudinal investigation in the United States



and China. *Child Development*, 78(5), 1592-1610. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-8624.2007.01085.x

- Wang, M., Selman, R., Dishion, T., & Stormshak, E. (2010). A tobit regression analysis of the covariation between middle school students' perceived school climate and behavioral problems. *Journal of Research on Adolescence, 20*(2), 274-286. doi: 10.1111/j.1532-7795.2010.00648.x
- Way, N., & Robinson, M. G. (2003). A longitudinal study of the effects of family, friends, and school experiences on the psychological adjustment of ethnic minority, low-SES adolescents. *Journal of Adolescent Research*, 18(4), 324-346. doi:

10.1177/0743558403018004001

- Way, N., & Pahl, K. (2001). Individual and contextual predictors of perceived friendship quality among ethnic minority, low-income adolescents. *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, *11*(4), 325-349. doi: 10.1111/1532-7795.00015
- Wentzel, K. (1994). Relations of social goal pursuit to social acceptance, classroom behavior, and perceived social support. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 86(2), 173-182. doi: 10.1037/0022-0663.86.2.173
- Wentzel, K. (1998). Social relationships and motivation in middle school: The role of parents, teachers, and peers. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 90(2), 202-209. doi: 10.1037/0022-0663.90.2.202
- Wentzel, K. (2002). Are effective teachers like good parents? Teaching styles and student adjustment in early adolescence. *Child Development*, 73(1), 287-301. doi: 10.1111/1467-8624.00406



Wentzel, K., & Asher, S. (1995) The academic lives of neglected, rejected, popular, and controversial children. *Child Development*, *66*(3), 754-763. doi: 10.2307/1131948

- Wettersten, K. B., Guilmino, A., Herrick, C. G., Hunter, P. J., Kim, G. Y., Jagow, D., Beecher, T., Faul, K., Baker, A. A., Rudolph, S. E., Ellenbecker, K., & McCormick, J. (2005).
  Predicting educational and vocational attitudes among rural high school students. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, *52*(4), 658-663. doi: 10.1037/0022-0167.52.4.658
- Williams, T., & Williams, K. (2010). Self-efficacy and performance in mathematics: Reciprocal determinism in 33 nations. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *102*(2), 453-466. doi: 10.1037/a0017271
- Wilson, P., & Wilson, J. (1992). Environmental influences on adolescent educational aspirations:
  A logistic transform model. *Youth and Society*, 24(1), 52-70. doi:
  10.1177/0044118X92024001003
- Witkow, M. R. (2009). Academic achievement and adolescents' daily time use in the social and academic domains. *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, 19(1), 151-172. doi: 10.1111/j.1532-7795.2009.00587.x
- Wood, D., Kurtz-Costes, B., Rowley, S., & Okeke-Adeyanju, N. (2010). Mothers' academic gender stereotypes and education-related beliefs about sons and daughters in African American families. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *102*(2), 521-530. doi: 10.1037/a0018481
- Xu, J. (2004). Family help and homework management in urban and rural secondary schools. *Teachers College Review*, *106*(9), 1786-1803. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-9620.2004.00405.x
- Zhang, Y., Haddad, E., Torres, B., & Chen, C. (2011). The reciprocal relationships among parents' expectations, adolescents' expectations, and adolescents' achievement: A two-



wave longitudinal analysis of the NELS data. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence, 40*(4), 479-489. doi: 10.1007/s10964-010-9568-8

- Zimmerman, B. J., & Kitsantas, A. (2005). Homework practices and academic achievement: The mediating role of self-efficacy and perceived responsibility beliefs. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, 30(4), 397-417. doi: 10.1016/j.cedpsych.2005.05.003
- Zimmerman, B. J., & Kitsantas, A. (2007). Reliability and validity of Self-Efficacy for Learning Form (SELF) scores of college students. *Journal of Psychology*, 215(3), 157-163. doi: 10.1027/0044-3409.215.3.157
- Zimmerman, B. J., & Martinez-Pons, M. (1988). Construct validation of a strategy model of student self-regulated learning. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 80(3), 284-290. doi: 10.1037/0022-0663.80.3.284



#### ABSTRACT

## THE MEDIATING INFLUENCE OF SCHOOL ENGAGEMENT BETWEEN AN ADOLESCENT'S CONTEXTUAL ENVIRONMENT AND ACADEMIC ACCOMPLISHMENT.

#### by

#### NAJIM UDDIN AHMED

#### December 2013

Advisor: Dr. Stephen B. Hillman

Major: Educational Psychology

**Degree:** Doctor of Philosophy

The current study explored several contexts that may influence an adolescent's academic performance in school, including school engagement, parenting behaviors, teacher behaviors, peer relationships, and academic self-efficacy. The outcome of interest was academic performance.

Participants in this study were 332 ninth through twelfth grade high school students (159 males and 164 females) from a suburban public high school in the midwestern United States. The average age of the students was 16.5. The participants completed seven surveys to measure academic performance in school, including school engagement, parenting behaviors, teacher behaviors, peer relationships, and academic self-efficacy.

Mediational analyses were used to investigate if school engagement mediated the relationship between the contextual variables and self-reported academic grades. Partial mediation of school engagement on self-reported academic grades were found for maternal responsiveness, teacher caring, maternal values towards education, paternal values towards education, and academic self-efficacy. School engagement fully mediated the relationship



between adaptive peer behaviors and self-reported academic grades. Additionally, three stepwise multiple linear regressions were performed to identify the most important contributor towards academic grades, school engagement, and academic self-efficacy. The most important contributors to academic grades were perceived teacher caring, mother values towards education, and conventional involvement. The greatest influence on school engagement were peer trouble, conventional involvement, perceived teacher caring, and mother responsiveness. Academic selfefficacy was most significantly influenced by conventional involvement, perceived teacher caring, and mother values towards education.

The findings of the current study suggest that multiple factors in the adolescents' life, such as parents, teachers, and peers contribute to personal beliefs about the possibility of success, student engagement in school, and subsequent academic performance. Caretakers of adolescents need to be aware of the multifactorial nature related to an adolescent's academic success.



# **AUTOBIOGRAPHICAL STATEMENT**

# Najim Uddin Ahmed

Education:	Doctor of Philosophy, 2013 – Wayne State University Major: Educational Psychology Cognate: Developmental Psychology
	Master of Education, 2004 – Wayne State University Major: Educational Psychology
	Bachelor of Business Administration, 2003 – Walsh College Major: General Business Minor: Management
	Associate of Applied Science, 2002 – Wayne County Community College Major: Business Administration
Professional Experience:	2012 – Present James A. Rhodes State College Assistant Professor of Arts and Sciences
	2007 – Present Henry Ford Community College Senior Adjunct Psychology Instructor
	2006 – 2010 Bridge Academy Support Staff Member
	2007 – 2009 Oakland International Academy School Board Member
Professional Memberships:	American Psychological Association, Teacher Affiliate

